

Μεταπτυχιακή Διπλωματική Εργασία

"THE ROLE OF ULTRASOUND IN SYSTEMIC PRIMARY VASCULITIS: A REVIEW OF LITERATURE"

υπό

ΑΝΝΑ ΣΙΜΗΧΑΝΙΔΟΥ

Ειδικευόμενης Ακτινοδιαγνωστικής

Υπεβλήθη για την εκπλήρωση μέρους των απαιτήσεων για την απόκτηση του Μεταπτυχιακού Διπλώματος Ειδίκευσης «Υπερηχογραφική Λειτουργική Απεικόνιση για την πρόληψη & διάγνωση των αγγειακών παθήσεων»

Λάρισα, 2022

Επιβλέπων:

Γεώργιος Κούβελος, Επίκουρος καθηγητής Αγγειοχειρουργικής – Ενδοαγγειακής Χειρουργικής, Τμήμα Ιατρικής, Πανεπιστήμιο Θεσσαλίας

Τριμελής Συμβουλευτική Επιτροπή:

 Γεώργιος Κούβελος, Επίκουρος καθηγητής Αγγειοχειρουργικής – Ενδοαγγειακής Χειρουργικής, Τμήμα Ιατρικής, Πανεπιστήμιο Θεσσαλίας

2. Χριστίνα Κατσιάρη, Αναπληρώτρια καθηγήτρια Παθολογίας – Ρευματολογίας, Τμήμα Ιατρικής, Πανεπιστήμιο Θεσσαλίας

3. Νικόλαος Κοντοπόδης, Επίκουρος καθηγητής Αγγειοχειρουργικής, Τμήμα Ιατρικής, Πανεπιστήμιο Κρήτης

Table of contents

	Acknowledgements	4
	Abstract in Greek – keywords	5
	Abstract – keywords	7
1	Introduction	8
2	Methods1	2
3	Results	3
	3.1 Large Vessel Vasculitis (LVV) 1	3
	3.1.1 Giant Cell Arteritis (GCA)1	3
	3.1.2 Takayasu Arteritis (TAK)2	5
	3.2 Medium Vessel Vasculitis (MVV)	1
	3.2.1 Kawasaki Disease (KD)	1
	3.2.2 Polyarteritis Nodosa (PAN) 4	1
	3.3 Small Vessel Vasculitis (SVV) 4	3
	3.4 Variable Vessel Vasculitis (VVV)	4
	3.4.1 Behcet's disease (BD)4	4
	3.4.2 Cogan's syndrome (CS)	1
4	Discussion – Conclusions	2
5	References	3

Acknowledgements

Για τη συμβολή τους στην ολοκλήρωση της παρούσας διπλωματικής εργασίας θα ήθελα να ευχαριστήσω θερμά την γραμματέα του ΜΠΣ, κυρία Άννα – Μαρία Ζέρβα, για την πάντα ευγενέστατη, σαφή και ταχύτατη ανταπόκριση της σε οποιαδήποτε ζήτημα προέκυψε, καθώς και τον επιβλέποντα καθηγητή, κύριο Γεώργιο Κούβελο, για τις καίριες παρεμβάσεις του. Την οικογένεια μου, Νίκο, Ξανθούλα, Μελίνα και Αλέξανδρο για την πάντσε υποστηρικτική στάση τους. Τον Άρη για όλες τις στιγμές χαράς και ψυχικής ανάτασης, που αποτέλεσαν ανακούφιση σε μια δύσκολη προσπάθεια. Τέλος, τον σύζυγο μου, Νίκο Μπούρα, για την προκτική, ηθική και συναισθηματική του υποστήριξη, αλλά και για την αμέριστη υπομονή του, από την αρχή έως το τέλος.

Περίληψη

Εισαγωγή: Οι συστηματικές αγγειίτιδες αποτελούν ετερογενή ομάδα νοσημάτων, η οποία χαρακτηρίζεται από μεγάλη ποικιλία αιτιολογικών, κλινικών, βιοχημικών, επιδημιολογικών και απεικονιστικών ευρημάτων. Ο στόχος της παρούσας ΜΔΕ είναι να διερευνήσει το ρόλο του υπερήχου στη διάγνωση, πρόγνωση και παρακολούθηση, καθώς και να συγκρίνει τη διαγνωστική ακρίβεια του υπερήχου με αυτή των άλλων απεικονιστικών μεθόδων.

Μεθοδολογία: Οι βάσεις δεδομένων MEDLINE και COCHRANE χρησιμοποιήθηκαν για την αναζήτηση των όρων "vasculitis" και "ultrasound" μετά την εφαρμογή φίλτρων για το χρόνο, το είδος και τις γλώσσες. Το τελικό σύνολο άρθρων τα οποία εισήχθησαν στην εφαρμογή Zotero Research Assistant (version 5.0.96.3) ήταν 1095.

Αποτελέσματα: Η διαγνωστική ακρίβεια του υπερήχου, ειδικά με τη χρήση Color και Pulsed Wave Doppler, έχει διερευνηθεί εκτενέστερα στις αγγειίτιδες μεγάλων αγγείων. Το σημείο της «άλω» εμφανίζει 68 - 77% ευαισθησία και 81 - 96% ειδικότητα για τη διάγνωση της γιγαντοκυτταρικής αρτηρίτιδας, οι οποίες ενισχύονται περαιτέρω όταν λαμβάνονται υπόψη το σημείο «συμπίεσης» και μεταβολές του αγγειακού αυλού. Η υψηλή διαγνωστική ακρίβεια του υπερήχου μείωσε την ανάγκη για βιοψία της κροταφικής αρτηρίας. Ο υπέρηχος εμφανίζει παρόμοια ευαισθησία και ειδικότητα (81% και σχεδόν 100%) στη διάγνωση της αρτηρίτιδας Takayasu συγκριτικά με κλινικά κριτήρια. Επιπροσθέτως, ποικίλες εφαρμογές του υπερηχογραφήματος και του υπερηχοκαρδιογραφήματος είναι ιδιαίτερης σημασίας για την έγκαιρη διάγνωση και την παρακολούθηση της νόσου Kawasaki, ιδίως σε παιδιατρικά περιστατικά, χάριν στην απουσία έκθεσης σε ακτινοβολία. Τέλος, ο υπέρηχος μπορεί να αναδείξει πάχυνση του τοιχώματος των κοινών μηριαίων φλεβών (> 05mm) σε περιπτώσεις νόσου Behcet's ανεξαρτήτως αγγειακής συμμετοχής, δείκτης που θα μπορούσε να χρησιμοποιηθεί διαγνωστικά και προγνωστικά. Ο ρόλος του υπερήχου στην διερεύνηση της ενδοθηλιακής δυσλειτουργίας στο οξύ και χρόνιο στάδιο όλων των τύπων συστηματικής αγγειίτιδες παραμένει αδιαμφισβήτητος.

Συζήτηση – Κατακλείδα: Η εφαρμογή των εδραιωμένων και καινούριων τεχνικών υπερηχογραφήματος μπορεί να βελτιστοποιήσει τη διάγνωση και την εκτίμηση της ενεργότητας της νόσου. Ωστόσο, περαιτέρω έρευνα είναι απαραίτητη.

Λέξεις – κλειδιά: αγγειίτιδα, υπερηχοκαρδιογράφημα, έγχρωμο Doppler υπερηχογράφημα, αρτηριίτιδα

Abstract

Introduction: Systemic vasculitides consist a heterogenous group of diseases, characterized by great variability of etiologic, clinical, biochemical, epidemiological and imaging findings. The goal of this thesis is to explore the role of ultrasound in diagnosis, prognosis and follow – up, and furthermore compare its accuracy with that of other imaging modalities.

Methods: We searched the MEDLINE and COCHRANE databases using the terms "vasculitis" and "ultrasound" after applying temporal, species and language filters. The final count of articles imported in the Zotero Research Assistant (version 5.0.96.3) was 1095.

Results: The diagnostic accuracy of ultrasound (US), especially with the use of Color and Pulsed Waved Doppler, is best established for large vessel vasculitis. The "halo" sign has 68 – 77% sensitivity and 81 - 96% specificity in the diagnosis of giant cell arteritis, that are further enhanced when "compression" sign and luminal changes are considered. The high diagnostic accuracy of US has reduced the need for temporal artery biopsies. US yields similar sensitivity and specificity (81% and almost 100%) for the diagnosis of Takayasu arteritis in comparison to clinical criteria. Additionally, various applications of US and echocardiography, such as Speckle Tracking and Tissue Doppler Imaging, are of great importance for the timely diagnosis and follow – up of Kawasaki disease, particularly for pediatric cases, because they lack radiation exposure. Finally, US may reveal increased vein wall thickness (VWT >0.5mm) in common femoral veins in patients with Behcet's disease, independently of vascular involvement, implying that VWT may serve as diagnostic and prognostic marker. The role of US in thoroughly investigating endothelial dysfunction in acute and chronic stages of all types of systemic vasculitis is indisputable.

Discussion – Conclusions: The implementation of well – established and modern techniques of ultrasound can optimize diagnosis and assessment of disease activity, although further research is required.

Keywords: vasculitis, echocardiography, color Doppler ultrasound, arteritis

1. Introduction

Vasculitis is defined as inflammation of the blood vessel wall, either as the main feature or secondary to a disease with an unrelated histopathology. The wide variability among different types of vasculitis concerns their etiology, clinical and biochemical attributes, demographic features, genetic and pathogenetic mechanisms. The 2012 Revised International Chapel Hill Consensus Conference Nomenclature of Vasculitides (CHCC2012) divides vasculitides into infectious and non – infectious, based on whether the vessel wall is affected by pathogens, although infection may in some cases advocate inflammation. Non – infectious vasculitides are further classified mainly according to the prevailing vessel type affected and secondarily to other characteristics, such as primary or secondary involvement, single organ involvement or assumed etiology (table 1). It is important to underline that the categorization is not obsolete and that any type of vasculitis can actually affect all vessel sizes although with different frequency.(1) The diagnosis of vasculitis requires a multimodality imaging approach combined with clinical and biochemical properties. Every modality has advantages and disadvantages that must be taken into consideration during the work – up and follow – up of patients with vasculitis (table 2). The goal of the present MSc Thesis is to investigate the role of ultrasound in the diagnosis and follow – up of vasculitis by elucidating its many techniques and applications and comparing its accuracy to that of the rest imaging modalities.

Table 1: Names of vasculitides adopted by the 2012 International Chapel Hill Consensus Conference on the Nomenclature of Vasculitides(1)*

Large vessel vasculitis (LVV)

Takayasu arteritis (TAK)

Giant cell arteritis (GCA)

Medium vessel vasculitis (MVV)

Polyarteritis nodosa (PAN)

Kawasaki disease (KD)

Small vessel vasculitis (SVV)

Antineutrophil cytoplasmic antibody (ANCA)–associated vasculitis (AAV)

Microscopic polyangiitis (MPA)

Granulomatosis with polyangiitis (Wegener's) (GPA)

Eosinophilic granulomatosis with polyangiitis (Churg-Strauss) (EGPA)

Immune complex SVV

Anti-glomerular basement membrane (anti-GBM) disease

Cryoglobulinemic vasculitis (CV)

IgA vasculitis (Henoch – Schönlein) (IgAV)

Hypocomplementemic urticarial vasculitis (HUV) (anti – C1q vasculitis)

Variable vessel vasculitis (VVV)

Behcet's disease (BD)

Cogan's syndrome (CS)

Single – organ vasculitis (SOV)

Cutaneous leukocytoclastic angiitis

Cutaneous arteritis

Primary central nervous system vasculitis

Isolated aortitis

Others

Vasculitis associated with systemic disease

Lupus vasculitis

Rheumatoid vasculitis

Sarcoid vasculitis

Others

Vasculitis associated with probable etiology

Hepatitis C virus – associated cryoglobulinemic vasculitis

Hepatitis B virus – associated vasculitis

Syphilis – associated aortitis

Drug – associated immune complex vasculitis
Drug – associated ANCA-associated vasculitis
Cancer – associated vasculitis
Others
*From Jennette JC, Falk RJ, Bacon PA, Basu N, Cid MC, Ferrario F, et al. 2012 Revised

*From Jennette JC, Falk RJ, Bacon PA, Basu N, Cid MC, Ferrario F, et al. 2012 Revised International Chapel Hill Consensus Conference Nomenclature of Vasculitides. Arthritis & Rheumatism. 2013;65(1):1–11.

Table 2: Comparison among modalities for the diagnosis of vasculitis(2,3)					
Modality	Advantages	Disadvantages			
CT/CTA	Widely available Fast image acquisition Wide vascular assessment Acquired images for "second look" analysis Minimally invasive	Radiation exposure Contraindicated if allergy to iodine or impaired renal function Low resolution for small vessels			
MRI/MRA	Wide vascular assessment Acquired images for "second look" analysis No radiation exposure Minimally invasive	Expensive Limited availability Contraindicated if impaired renal function Claustrophobia Low resolution for medium/small vessels Not compatible with some metal devices Long acquisition time for wide vascular assessment			
PET/PET-CT	Whole – body assessment Acquired images for "second look" analysis Minimally invasive	Expensive Limited availability Radiation exposure No standards for positivity No resolution for medium/small vessels			
US	Inexpensive Wide availability No radiation exposure No nephrotoxic contrast High resolution for medium and small arteries	Long assessment time for wide vascular assessment Operator – dependent Restricted by poor acoustic window			

	Dynamic examination	
DSA	Wide vascular evaluation High resolution for small vessels Therapeutic intervention	Expensive Limited availability Radiation exposure Contraindicated if allergy to iodine or if impaired renal function Invasive Operator – dependent

2. Methods

We searched the MEDLINE and COCHRANE databases using the terms "vasculitis" and "ultrasound". A temporal filter including articles published after 2010 was applied, along with filters on species (human) and language (English, German, Modern Greek). The final count of articles included 1308 results. We excluded articles by title and abstract and we imported 998 objects in the Zotero Research Assistant (version 5.0.96.3). After deduplication, we screened the retrieved articles by text, added literature included in them and expanded our database to 1097 objects. Our last search took place at 5 December 2021. Secondary vasculitis was not included in this MSc Thesis. Single organ primary vasculitis was elaborated on, if it consisted part of the systemic primary vasculitis described each time.



Chart 1: Flow chart of records

3. Results

3.1. Large Vessel Vasculitis (LVV)

3.1.1. Giant Cell Arteritis (GCA)

The importance of ultrasound is stated in the 2018 EULAR recommendations for imaging in LVV.(4) The first recommendation with level of evidence 1 (LE 1) is that suspected GCA cases should undergo US to confirm diagnosis, preferably before or soon after GC therapy initiation, but no longer than the first week.(4) This recommendation is imposed by the fact that high – dose GC quickly inhibit macrophage activation, reduce edema and consequently vessel wall inflammation. As a result, within the first two to four weeks imaging findings may be vague or absent.(3,5) However, treatment should not be delayed, if US in unavailable or inconclusive, in order to prevent serious complications and mainly blindness.(4)

The most sensitive sonographic finding is the "halo" sign, which according to the OMERACT consensus corresponds to a homogenous, hypoechoic and usually concentric thickening of the artery wall, well delineated towards the lumen (picture 1A).(4,6) The "halo" sign probably corresponds to the typical histopathological inflammatory infiltration of the arterial wall, while when vasa vasorum type of lesions are histologically present, only rarely is a typical "halo" found in US. This discrepancy could explain false negative cases in US.(7) However a recent study correlated intimal hyperplasia and not inflammatory infiltration with thicker "halo".(8) Several observational studies, systematic reviews and meta - analyses have reported on the diagnostic accuracy of US in comparison to clinical diagnosis and/or TAB (table 3).(9-12) According to recent meta - analyses, the "halo" sign has a 81 - 96% specificity, which may reach 100%, if found bilaterally.(10,11,13,14) It has a 63 - 77% sensitivity and therefore should be interpreted in the appropriate setting, since it may be also present in other vasculitides, infections, atherosclerosis and other situations.(4,10,13–15) US typically has lower diagnostic accuracy in large vessel GCA (LV - GCA).(16) The "compression" sign has also been reported to enhance diagnosis, especially in combination with the "halo" sign, with a sensitivity of 79% and specificity of 100% when both signs are present, (17) and a remarkable inter – and intra – observer agreement. (18, 19) This sign is considered positive, when the arterial wall remains visible despite compression implemented by the US probe (picture 1B).(6) Color and pulsed wave Doppler US (CDUS and PWD,

respectively) can evaluate stenosis and occlusion.(18) However, most studies support that stenosis and occlusion – when complementary to "halo" sign – do not significantly enhance diagnostic accuracy in comparison to clinical diagnosis and TAB. (10,10,18,20,21) The opposite conclusion was also reached,(13,22) however it is believed that high – resolution (\geq 15MHz) transducers allow recognition of even minimal wall thickening and therefore stenosis does not need to be a surrogate for diagnosis.(23) According to the TABUL study inexperienced sonographers may be even confused by the presence of stenosis.(24) As a result, the OMERACT consensus stated that only "halo" and "compression" signs should be consider principal for the US diagnosis of C – GCA and LV – GCA.(6)

Table 3: Meta – analyses on the diagnostic accuracy of ultrasound in LVV					
Author	Year	Reference method	Number of studies	Sensitivity (95% CI)	Specificity (95% CI)
		Giant Cell	Arteritis	I	
Arida et al.(11)	2010		8		
Unilateral "halo" sign		ACR criteria	8	68 (61 - 74)	91 (88 - 94)
Bilateral "halo" sign		ACR criteria	4	43 (not referred)	100 (not referred)
Ball et al.(12)	2010		17		
"Halo" sign		ТАВ	9	75 (67, 82)	83 (78, 88)
"Halo" sign, stenosis or occlusion		ТАВ	9	83 (77, 89)	82 (77, 87)
"Halo" sign		ACR criteria	6	69 (60, 77)	89 (84, 92)
"Halo" sign, stenosis or occlusion		ACR criteria	7	78 (72, 84)	88 (84, 91)
"Halo" sign, stenosis or		TAB and/or ACR criteria (no steroids	5	75 (65, 84)	88 (82, 93)

occlusion		before imaging)			
"Halo" sign, stenosis or occlusion		TAB and/or ACR criteria (steroids before imaging)	7	72 (65, 79)	87 (82, 90)
Duftner et al.(10)	2018		17		
"Halo" sign		Clinical diagnosis	8	77 (62, 87)	96 (85, 99)
"Halo" sign, stenosis or occlusion		Clinical diagnosis	3	78 (57, 90)	89 (78, 95)
"Halo" sign		ТАВ	7	70 (56, 81)	84 (73, 91)
"Halo" sign or stenosis		ТАВ	2	77 (23, 97)	91 (75, 97)
"Halo" sign, stenosis or occlusion		ТАВ	5	78 (48, 93)	91 (70, 98)
		1			
Rinagel et al.(13)	2019		25		
"Halo" sign		ТАВ	20	68 (57, 78)	81 (75, 86)
"Halo" sign, stenosis or occlusion		ТАВ	11	78 (64, 87)	79 (73, 85)
Sebastian et al.(14)	2021		23		
"Halo" sign		Clinical diagnosis ± TAB	18	67 (51, 80)	95 (89, 98)

"Halo" sign		ТАВ	15	63 (50, 75)	90 (81, 95)
"Halo" sign ± stenosis ± occlusion		Clinical diagnosis or TAB	4	52 (18, 84)	81 (64, 91)
"Halo" sign ± stenosis		Clinical diagnosis or TAB	4	43 (12, 80)	85 (66, 94)
Takayasu Arteritis					
Barra et al.(25)	2018				
Diagnosis (increased IMT)		Clinical diagnosis	3	81 (69, 89)	100 (not referred)

A few studies have aimed to establish cut – off values for the intima – media thickness (IMT), and by extension the "halo" thickness.(26–28) In a prospective, blinded case – control study, IMT of normal subjects did not exceed 0.6mm in any of the arteries evaluated and cut – off values for GCA were established as follows: 0.42mm in TAs, 0.34mm and 0.29mm in frontal and parietal branches, 0.37mm in facial and 1.0mm in axillary arteries. Sensitivity and specificity was 100% for TAs, their frontal branches and axillary arteries, 97.2 and 98.7% for parietal branches, 87.5% and 98.8% for facial arteries.(28) Most recently, Ješe et al. reported similar cut – off values: 0.4mm for temporal, facial and occipital, 0.7mm for vertebral and 1mm for common carotid, subclavian and axillary arteries, with sensitivity and specificity ranging from 96% to 100% for most of the arteries.(29) De Miguel et al. showed that atherosclerosis also increases IMT in TAs, especially when common carotid artery – IMT \geq 0.9mm, and proposed a cut – off value \geq 0.34mm for TAs when at least two branches are affected, thus increasing specificity.(30) In a similar manner, Czihal et al. suggested the combined evaluation of temporal and axillary arteries with cut - off IMT values $\geq 0.7/1.2$ mm.(27) Later, the 0.7 mm cut – off was validated by compression sonography and showed high diagnostic accuracy not only in diagnosing GCA, but also in predicting ocular arterial occlusion.(31) High – resolution probes have been used to acquire more accurate IMT measurements.(30,32) 55MHz transducers can reveal the four - line pattern of IMT in thickened superficial arteries that corresponds to a histologically proven intimal thickening \geq 0.6mm.(32) According to Noumegni et al., 18 MHz and 22 MHz transducers show an acceptable level of agreement, with the latter correctly identifying slightly more cases. This study, however, only evaluated the presence of "halo" and compression signs and not an exact measurement of IMT.(18) The usefulness of high – resolution transducer requires further research.



Picture 1: (A) The "halo" sign of temporal artery in GCA; (B) Positive "compression" sign with remaining "halo" after compressing the temporal artery (from: Monti S, Floris A, Ponte C, Schmidt WA, Diamantopoulos AP, Pereira C, et al. The use of ultrasound to assess giant cell arteritis: review of the current evidence and practical guide for the rheumatologist. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2018 Feb 1;57(2):227–35).(44)

The "halo" sign is linked to response to treatment, prognosis and follow - up. As for all methods, when in cranial arteries, it typically reduces and disappears within the first two to three weeks of GC therapy, while even briefer or longer time periods have been reported.(3,20,33–37) Hypoechogenicity of the arterial wall has been established as a sign of active GCA, which means that remission of the "halo" sign might be a marker of response to treatment.(22,34,38) On the other hand, vasculitic changes may persist longer in large vessels than in TAs and this persistence does not always reflect undertreatment or increased rate of relapse.(20,39) The presence of an echolucent band within the thickened hypoechoic wall was described as a sign of active vasculitis in lower limb arteritis.(40) Several studies have investigated the long – term appearance of the vascular wall. Ford et al. stated that more than 70% of cases exhibited different US findings in follow – up after a median five months period. Findings resolved completely in 41% of patients, while in one third the hypoechogenicity of the vascular wall diverged into hyperechogenicity. Most subjects with

hyperechogenicity were on clinical remission at the time of follow – up.(34) This observation is consistent with other studies.(40–43) Although hyperechogenicity has been attributed to fibrosis or fine calcifications of atherosclerosis induced by vasculitis, its true pathogenesis remains unclear.(41,43)

In terms of prognosis and follow - up, Soares et al. reported that "halo" sign might be used as a marker of more severe and/or disseminated disease,(45) although it was shown that "halo" was not predictive of ischemic complications. (20) In two consecutive studies, Ponte et al. supported the use of CDUS in assessing disease activity and response to treatment.(20,46) The number of TA segments with "halo" and the maximum "halo" IMT were significantly correlated to acute phase reactants. "Halo" sign was present in 94% of relapses, but with less affected segments and lower IMT. (46) Contrarily, other studies observed that the thickness of "halo" in TAs is similar in acute phase and relapse and thinner during remission.(37,47) Another study reported that a "halo" sign in more than four segments was present in new or flared cases and tended to decrease in number during follow – up.(37) US is important in monitoring patients receiving IL - 6 inhibitors, since in those patients CRP and ESR remain low even in undertreated disease or relapse and cannot be used to follow - up disease activity.(20,48) For the time being, EULAR recommendations (LE 5) suggest that imaging could be utilized to follow – up structural disturbances, such as stenosis, occlusion, dilation and aneurysms. If relapse is suspected, imaging might be used to confirm it, but in cases of clinical and biochemical remission, it is not routinely recommended.(4)

Another recommendation (LE 1) states that US of TAs should be performed in patients suspected for C – GCA as a first – line imaging modality. Furthermore, if US findings of the TAs are normal but clinical suspicion of GCA remains high, other intra – and extra – cranial arteries, especially axillary, should be evaluated.(4) Several studies are consistent with this recommendation. According to one study, US sensitivity is 96% when only TAs are assessed and rises to 98% and 100% respectively when axillary and both axillary and common carotid arteries (CCAs) are added at baseline CDUS in patients with high suspicion of GCA.(49) A remarkable increase of sensitivity was reported when both temporal and axillary arteries were evaluated at initial US.(50) A recent study, concluded that US of the axillary artery is competent enough to be the first – line approach in LV – GCA compared to fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography/ computed tomography (FDG –

PET/CT).(51) The "slope" sign was proposed as specific of axillary involvement; it represents the homogenous mural thickening that gradually transitions to normal thickness, in comparison to atheromatosis that appears to be more abrupt (picture 2). Further investigation on this sign is required.(52) Distal subclavian and axillary arteries are the most common site of extra - cranial involvement in GCA, especially in younger age.(53) Occipital arteries present lesions in almost 70% of patients.(3) In patients with C - GCA and/or LV - GCA, "halo" sign was found in occipital arteries in 31%, facial arteries in 41% and both in 19% of cases, even in patients with spared TAs.(54) When posterior circulation ischemic strokes occur, GCA must be considered in the differential diagnosis and conversely, if GCA is suspected in such patients a US protocol that includes carotid, vertebral, axillary, subclavian, occipital and temporal arteries plus a transcranial Doppler (TCD) of cerebral arteries should be implemented.(55) The "spot" sign is a hyperechoic spot in the head of the optic nerve suggestive of embolism of central retinal artery can be assessed by orbital color - coded sonography (OCCS) to differentiate embolic from vasculitic cause of vision loss.(56) Low flow velocities in retrobulbar arteries without occlusion may be found in GCA.(57) Other sites that may be involved include the proximal and distal arteries of the upper and lower limb.(3,58) In limb restricted GCA (LR – GCA), in 86% of cases only the upper limb is affected, in 9% only the lower limb and in 5% both.(58) One study suggested that a bilateral "halo" sign in femoropopliteal arteries should be considered typical for GCA.(43) Last but not least, the aorta might also be impaired; in almost one third of GCA patients aorta and major supra – aortic branches exhibit a "halo" sign, although cranial arteries may appear intact.(59) Only the proximal 4cm of the ascending aorta can be assessed by transthoracic echocardiography (TTE) for dilation or aneurysm, aortic valve insufficiency or myocardial dysfunction.(23,60) Transesophageal echocardiography (TEE), although usually not preferred, can reveal aneurysms, acute aortic complications,(60) aortic thrombosis(23,61,62) and findings of aortitis in the distal part of thoracic aorta. (63-65) US can evaluate the abdominal aorta for wall inflammation and periaortitis, however it might be limited by the patient's physique and the presence of bowel gas.(23) Aortitis as an isolated expression of GCA may exist, although usually indistinguishable from other causes, such as infection and other vasculitides.(1,66) The "double barrel" sign in TEE, that corresponds to focal echolucent abscess cavities adjacent to the aortic lumen, can help distinguishing infectious aortitis.(60) Multimodality imaging is necessary in suspected aortic involvement.(4) The extent of the disease should be exhaustively investigated, since it has been related to treatment response and prognosis. Czihal et al. showed that upper limb involvement has a good prognosis with resolution of sonographic findings in 32% of the subjects at least six months after diagnosis. Bilateral, unilateral and right – sided GCA and subclavian artery involvement correlate with worse prognosis.(67) Another study found that lower limb critical ischemia could rapidly evolve within weeks in contrast to upper limb, where collateral vessels typically stave this complication off.(43,67) On the other hand, long – term lesions of the artery wall are more prone to completely resolve in TAs than in subclavian and/or axillary arteries.(34) Simultaneous intra – and extra – cranial involvement in baseline US was related to inadequate treatment response and more frequent relapses. Contrarily, normal baseline US or involvement of one vascular bed had better prognosis.(68) As much as 76% of patients developing stroke within the first week of GCA diagnosis had a posterior circulation infarct strongly associated with vertebral "halo" sign.(45,69-71) Aortitis is accompanied by increased risk of aneurysm formation, a complication that develops at least three to five years from diagnosis.(66,72) Since aneurysms are usually silent and may be lethal, close monitoring should be implied (LE 5).(66,73)



Picture 2: The "slope" sign, proposed by Dasgupta et al., represents the gradual thickening of the wall of axillary arteries in GCA, compared to the discrete, irregular thickening in atherosclerosis (from: Dasgupta B, Smith K, Khan AAS, Coath F, Wakefield RJ. "Slope sign": a feature of large vessel vasculitis? Ann Rheum Dis. 2019 Dec;78(12):1738).(52)

TA biopsy (TAB) is considered the golden standard for GCA diagnosis, despite its invasive character and low sensitivity, that originates from the segmental wall involvement.(3,10) Since cranial arteries are spared in up to 40% of cases and extra - cranial arteries are often not accessible for biopsy, diagnosis is based upon clinical, laboratory and imaging findings.(10) US allows the assessment of the full length of most vessels, does not require cessation of anticoagulants, has lower cost and the results are immediately available.(22) A few meta analyses compared the diagnostic accuracy of US with that of clinical diagnosis and/or TAB(9-12) and reported diagnostic accuracy for the "halo" sign as equally high as that of TAB.(10) Sommer et al. found that TAB had a 97.3% sensitivity in patients with elevated ESR and CRP serum levels and a positive US, suggesting that in such cases TAB might not be necessary.(74) Luqmani et al. proposed a strategy of conducting US in all patients and proceed to TAB only in those with negative US by conducting a prospective study. The authors concluded that US is more cost - effective than TAB both with or without clinical correlation.(24) Both high positive and negative prognostic values for temporal arteritis have been reported.(75,76) Last but not least, some investigators tried to enhance the accuracy of TAB by guiding the procedure through US, however results were ambiguous.(36,77) The aforementioned and several more studies converge, at a different degree, to the hypothesis that a negative result in US can exclude diagnosis, if clinical suspicion is low, and a positive US can rule in the diagnosis, if clinical suspicion is high. This way the need for TAB may decrease, reducing interventions and preventing unnecessary GC therapy. (24,75,76,78-84) This conclusion was implemented by the 2018 EULAR recommendations, in which however it is stated that the role of TAB should not be undermined.(73)

In compliance to this recommendation, several studies have attempted to develop pre – test probability scores.(85–89) Two retrospective studies introduced the concept of "fast – track clinics", consisting of clinical and US evaluation within short time (24 hours and one week respectively) and referral to a specialized team within 24 hours. Both studies, reported lower incidence of irreversible visual impairment, more scarce complications of prolonged GC administration and restriction of hospitalization expenses, which lead to a better cost – effectiveness ratio.(85,86) Laskou et al. developed a GCA probability score (GCAPS), which took clinical and biochemical parameters into consideration. According to GCAPS, suspected cases were divided into three categories – low, intermediate and high risk for GCA. A US was conducted within two days and based on the result, low – risk patients with negative US were

further categorized as "GCA unlikely", while high – risk patients with positive US as "treat as GCA". For both categories, no necessity for further evaluation was considered, while for the two intermediate categories – "GCA uncertain" and "treat as GCA with additional test" – additional tests and clinical re – evaluation were assigned. A cut – off value of 9.5 (\leq 9 not GCA, \geq 10: GCA) yielded 95.7% sensitivity and 86.7% specificity.(87) Higher diagnostic accuracy of US compared to prior literature was showcased when GCAPS was implemented in diagnosis.(88)

Since US is operator – dependent, a few researchers reported results after specific and constructed trainings of sonographers, that usually lead to excellent inter – and intra – observer agreement.(24,90,91) EULAR also recommends that imaging should be performed by trained specialists (LE 5).(4) Deep learning using convolutional neural networks had promising results in avoiding operator – dependency.(92) Some researchers tried to quantify US findings by creating scores.(93) Van der Geest et al. created a Halo Score (HS) by grading wall thickness in TAs, their branches and axillary arteries bilaterally. HS was higher in GCA patients and when HS ≥ 10 (0 – 48), specificity reached 95%. HS was positively correlated to a positive TAB(84), an observation validated again recently.(8) As mentioned before, the same study related high HS with intimal hyperplasia, and suggested that a positive TAB with high HS is predictive of ocular ischemia.(8) Including subclavian arteries in a modified HS was not found to raise accuracy, however it better correlated with inflammatory markers, an aspect that could assist evaluation of disease activity and response to treatment.(94,95) A temporal compression sonography (TCS) score based on HS was suggested, without any effect on diagnostic accuracy.(31)

Contrast – enhanced US (CEUS) has recently started to be investigated. A pilot study reported enhancement of the proximal CCA wall in patients with LVV, which allowed better visualization of the lumen – wall interface. The degree of the enhancement corresponded to the severity of neovascularization and was considered to be a possible indicator of disease activity, although this assumption requires further and larger studies.(96) A semi – quantitative method for assessing CCA mural enhancement by CEUS in patients with LVV defined three grades of severity and concluded that CEUS could be a more reliable marker of disease activity than clinical diagnosis and inflammatory markers. Severe degree was accompanied by a C - IMT > 1mm and was predominantly present in active disease. Last but

22

not least, CEUS had a sensitivity of approximately 100%, when compared to FDG – PET/CT, but not as high specificity due to post – inflammatory neoangiogenesis that lead to enhancement despite the regression of inflammation.(97)

Finally, US has a role in evaluating articular and extra – articular inflammation in order to diagnose and monitor disease activity PMR.(98) The most typical findings are subacromial/ subdeltoid bursitis, followed by tenosynovitis of the long head of the biceps, while hip synovitis, interspinous bursitis and other sites of inflammation can be recognized.(98,99) These findings may assist the diagnosis of PMR and might even be more sensitive in revealing residual disease after therapy in comparison to acute phase reactants and clinical evaluation.(98) US also plays an important role in the differential diagnosis of PMR.(99)

EULAR recommends (LE 5) that conventional angiography should be saved for interventional purposes, such as revascularization of ischemic tissues.(3,4,23) Other imaging modalities to evaluate vascular inflammation and its complications include MRI, CT and PET. MRI should be used to assess active mural inflammation in cranial arteries, when US is inconclusive or unavailable (LE 2).(4) MRI and MR angiography (MRA) can determine the extent of the disease, vascular complications, such as stenosis, occlusion or dilation of the arteries, infarcts in target organs, as well as PMR.(4,99) Cardiac MRI (CMRI) is useful in suspected cardiac involvement.(38)For medium – size arteries, especially for carotid, ophthalmic and vertebral, MRA is often preferred over other methods.(3) MRI, preferably using a 3T scanner, has similar diagnostic accuracy in comparison to US (sensitivity: MRI 69%, US 77%, specificity: 91% both).(4,100) The value of MRI in assessing disease activity is not well – established.(101) MRI – MRA should be conducted early, within the first five days, from GC initiation.(5,9)

Computed Tomography (CT) is recommended to evaluate LV – GCA, but not C - GCA, according to the EULAR (LE 3 and LE 5, respectively).(4) CT angiography (CTA) can visualize wall thickening and contrast – enhancement in early stages of inflammation and mural hyperdensity and calcifications in later stages and enables accurate measurements of luminar lesions.(38) Venous and portal venous phases allow the investigation of parenchymal organs.(2) The role of CT - CTA in long – term follow – up of disease activity is not yet established.(101)

FDG – PET and FDG – PET/CT are not appropriate for cranial arteries, especially for TAs, due to low spatial resolution and increased uptake of FDG from the brain, that obscures adjacent vessels.(9) FDG – PET has a sensitivity of 80% and specificity of 90% and FDG – PET/CT 90% and 98% respectively, and presents a higher diagnostic accuracy for LV – GCA compared to MR and CT. Some studies reported higher diagnostic accuracy of US in the presence of a "halo" sign in the axillary and subclavian arteries, however not for the aorta.(50,102) Imfeld et al. concluded that the two modalities are complementary,(103) while Seifert et al. experimented with fused PET/US, combining the metabolic properties of PET and the morphologic findings of US.(104) The accuracy of FDG – PET/CT remains high within the first three days of GC therapy and declines abruptly after ten days, while liver uptake increases, imposing difficulties in assessing disease activity.(3) Although, the role of FDG – PET is still ambiguous, it remains quite promising for detecting remissions in the future.(3) It may also reveal an alternative diagnosis and designate findings suggestive of PMR or conversely exclude vasculitis in patients with PMR.(3,9,99)

3.1.2. Takayasu Arteritis (TAK)

The 2018 EULAR recommendations state that in suspected TAK, contrast enhanced MRI should be the imaging method of choice (LE 3). This recommendation stems mainly from two factors. Mural inflammation and luminal changes, including stenosis, occlusion, dilation and aneurysm, are depicted with a sensitivity and specificity that may reach 100% and furthermore radiation exposure of the typically young TAK patients is avoided. Other modalities should be used when MRI is not readily available (LE 3 for CT, LE 5 for PET and US). (4) Imaging should be reserved for suspected relapses, as adjunctive to inconclusive clinical and biochemical markers, and not as routine follow – up during remission or in otherwise confirmed relapses (LE 5). Long – term luminal changes should be followed – up frequently, with modality and chronic intervals being chosen individually (LE 5).(4) Conventional angiography should be spared for interventional purposes (LE 5). Diagnostic accuracy of all imaging modalities declines during treatment, although specific time intervals after treatment initiation are not well – established.(3)

The extent is similar to GCA, but TAK more commonly affects the left CCA and subclavian, the vertebral and mesenteric arteries and never the TAs.(3,101) A cluster analysis reported that TAK lesions are symmetrical, in contrast to prior literature supporting asymmetrical involvement.(105) Typically, arteries affected by TAK are inaccessible for biopsy.(3) Therefore in suspected cases, CDUS of the aforementioned arteries and the abdominal aorta should be performed as soon as possible,(101) despite the lack of fast – track clinics' evidence.(73) Isolated aortitis may rarely occur.(106) If claudication or hypertension exist, limb and renal arteries should be assessed, respectively.(4,101) Retrobulbar, namely ophthalmic and central retinal arteries should be periodically evaluated by CDUS, since increased time after disease onset was significantly correlated to reduced blood flow velocities and increase RI, predisposing vision disturbances.(107)

According to a recent meta – analysis, US yields a 81% pooled sensitivity and 100% specificity for TAK when compared to clinical diagnosis, while the pooled concordance of US and angiography was 86%.(25) The most typical finding is the concentric, usually mid – echoic, thickening of the arterial wall in early stages, due to inflammation and edema, known as the "macaroni" sign (picture 3).(108,109) IMT has been suggested as an indicator of active disease, since it significantly declines after treatment and increases during

relapses.(25,108,110) Barra et al. in their meta – analysis reported that C – IMT was 0.56mm greater in TAK against healthy controls.(25) Thickening may persist in later stages, echogenicity usually increases and luminal changes and collateral vessels arise.(108,109) The hyperechogenicity after treatment has long been proposed to be a marker of disease activity.(101,109) Svensson et al. found that in active, newly diagnosed TAK, IMT was increased, the wall was low to moderately echogenic and intramural arteries were present. During remission, mild increase of IMT and echogenicity with fibrous mural stripes were observed. The combination of maximal reliable IMT measurements of various arteries were used in a Takayasu ultrasound index, in order to quantify the total inflammatory burden of the arteries. All parameters, including the index, were higher in TAK patients compared to healthy controls, especially during early disease.(111) Fan et al. assessed the progression of wall thickening and outer diameter of carotid arteries and reported that both remained unchanged during follow – up, in patients that would subsequently relapse, while in those in remission they declined.(112) Decreased brachial FMD has been reported as marker of endothelial dysfunction in TAK, although not in correlation to disease activity or acute phase reactants.(113)



Picture 3: (A) The "macaroni" sign and (B) the consequent stenosis, as revealed by Color Doppler, in a common carotid artery of a patient with Takayasu arteritis (from: Ponte Barreira SC, Melo AT, C. Khmelinskii N. Macaroni sign and carotid Takayasu's occlusion in arteritis. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2021 Apr 6;60(4):2029-30).(114)

The role of CEUS in assessing disease activity during follow – up has been investigated thoroughly. Many studies designated increased mural enhancement as predictive of active TAK and restricted vascularization during remission after treatment.(110,115,116) Schinkel et al. suggested a semi – quantitative method of grading CEUS in carotid arteries and showed that the grade of neovascularization, ranging 0 - 2, corresponded to the severity of inflammation and activity of TAK.(96) Ma et al. compared active and inactive cases of TAK and concluded that mural thickness is greater in the active stage, while luminal stenosis and occlusion are more common in the inactive stage. Severe vascularization was found in almost 62% of active and in an estimable 24% of inactive cases. Both wall thickening and neovascularization declined after three months of therapy.(117) Residual enhancement during inactive disease could be attributed to remaining neovessels, despite clinical and biochemical absence of inflammation.(97,116,117) Accordingly, CEUS might be more sensitive in detecting even subtle inflammation unnoticed by clinical and laboratory markers, further supporting its importance in follow up. (97,117,118) Li et al. proposed a semi – quantitative method with four visual grades of carotid arterial wall neovascularization and concluded that grades ≥ 2 corresponded to clinically active or undertreated cases, even if acute phase reactants remained low. CEUS exhibited good correlation with clinical diagnosis and a 100% sensitivity and 80% specificity compared to FDG – PET/CT. In this study, CEUS correctly classified active or inactive disease in 96.8% of cases.(118) More recently, Ma et al. utilized carotid wall thickness and clinical factors, to predict US progression within one – year follow - up. Increased mural thickness and grade 2 neovascularization at baseline predicted imaging progression.(119) Neovascularization grade ≥ 2 as highly specific of active disease was also reported by Lottspiech et al., who investigated all three carotid, subclavian and axillary arteries. Grade 0 was highly specific of inactive disease, while grade 1 remained equivocal and could correspond to either remodeling or lurking inflammation. Weighing grade 1 cases by maximum IMT seemed promising in increasing diagnostic accuracy and recognizing patients with smoldering disease.(120) A new application of US, the superb microvascular imaging (SMI), allows extremely low flow within arterial wall to be detected. SMI revealed neovascularization in an active TAK case, that consecutively receded after six months follow -up.(121)

Stenosis is evaluated with greater sensitivity by CDUS in comparison to conventional angiography, MRA or CTA.(4,25) Sinha et al. created a scoring system of CDUS based on

stenosis and abnormal blood flow parameters in various arteries. This scoring system yielded high inter – and intra – observer agreement and a high degree of correlation with the Indian Takayasu Clinical Activity Score (ITAS2010), a result that supports utilizing CDUS in evaluating disease activity.(122) In case of CCA stenosis or occlusion, if peak systolic velocity (PSV) in external carotid artery (ECA) is retained, so does in internal (ICA), despite the fact that PSV typically appears reduced in TAK. Such findings enable an indirect assessment of blood flow adequacy in the brain.(123) Apart from typical luminal lesions, rare cases of dissection have been described, most often in the aorta and secondarily in CCA. Dissection commonly involves short arterial segments, with a thick, rigid intimal flap without apparent movement, while seldom multiple dissections might occur in the same segment and must be differentiated by collateral vessels.(124)

TTE also plays a pivotal role for the diagnosis and follow – up of TAK. TTE is of limited value for the thoracic aorta, (4,106) apart from its proximal ascending segment. (101) According to Nishigami et al., the echocardiographic appearance of the aorta depends on the segment. The descending aorta and the aortic arch appear wavy and scalloped and later calcified, the so - called "porcelain aorta". Smooth tapering or focal stenosis involve the descending thoracic and abdominal aorta, creating a "pseudo - coarctation", while rarely chronic occlusion may occur.(125,126) Smooth - walled dilation or aneurysms of the ascending aorta may appear in later stages. Collateral vessels may be present in the setting of chronic stenosis.(126) TEE might provide useful information on thoracic aorta and coronary arteries (CAs) morphology and flow, especially in the orifices of CAs. (106,126,127) TTE and TEE can evaluate valvular abnormalities, usually aortic and mitral insufficiency, and in almost two thirds of patients, simultaneous involvement of multiple valves.(128–130) Pulmonary hypertension (PH) may affect as much as half of TAK patients and has been related to an 13 - fold increased risk for future valvular intervention, (130) underlining the importance of assessing pulmonary arteries.(130,131) A study found that the right pulmonary artery is involved in more than 90% of cases, exhibiting the "macaroni" sign, luminal stenosis, medium to high echogenicity occlusion and gradual stenosis of distal vessels that corresponds to the CTPA "rat - tail" sign.(131) Pericardial effusion, although not very frequent, may also be revealed by TTE.(101,132) Last but not least, TTE and TEE allows inspection of ventricular dimensions and function, cardiomyopathy and heart

failure.(101,133–135) Wang et al. used aortic valve involvement and pulmonary hypertension evaluated by TTE to create a risk assessment model that predicts heart failure.(136)

More sporadic applications of US are also described in literature. Intravascular ultrasound (IVUS) can detect subtle wall changes, requires however larger studies.(126,137,138) Aortic stiffness deduced by echocardiography through carotid – femoral pulsed wave velocity, is found to be increased in TAK compared to healthy controls.(139) In a case report, TCD was used to assess ophthalmic artery and anterior circulation blood flow, both pre – and post – revascularization of an occluded CCA in a patient with TAK and retinal ischemia.(140) It is important to underline that in pregnant women pre – delivery echocardiography should be performed, since TAK may complicate pregnancy with hypertension, pre – eclampsia, and valvular dysfunction, predominantly aortic regurgitation.(141,142)

MRI is the method of choice for evaluating aorta and its large branches. Circumferential wall thickening \geq 0.6mm with a high T2 – signal and post – contrast enhancement are typical early findings.(2,101) Long – term luminal changes are detected by MRA with high diagnostic accuracy, comparable to angiography.(101,108) Concerning disease activity, especially after treatment initiation, the role of MRI/MRA is under investigation. Edema may overlap over chronic lesions even during remission, while mural inflammation and fibrosis cannot be differentiated by gadolinium enhancement. Recently, gadofosveset was suggested as an alternative, since it does not enhance fibrotic tissue. Cardiac MRI is quite accurate in revealing even subtle myocardial ischemia.(101)

CT/CTA has 95% sensitivity and 100% specificity in diagnosing TAK in early stages, before severe remodeling occurs.(101,108) Early findings include mural thickening and hyperdensity in pre – contrast images and a double – ring sign in venous phase.(101,143) Later, moderate wall thickening, calcifications, luminal changes and overlapping chronic lesions might be found.(108,143) CT is particularly useful in differentiating TAK from atherosclerosis, since in TAK calcifications are typically transmural, circumferential and extended.(108,144) CTCA may reveal asymptomatic coronary lesions in up to 55% of patients and should be utilized in the non – acute stage of disease, if coronary or ascending aorta involvement are suspected.(101,108) The ability of CT/CTA to determine disease activity and treatment success remains unclear.(101)

LVVs share similar advantages and limitations in FDG – PET/ FDG – PET/CT.(38) FDG – PET/CT sensitivity is 87% and specificity 73% for TAK. Active, untreated vasculitis shows an uptake greater than that of the liver, however specific cut – off values are not validated yet. Diagnostic accuracy declines quickly after treatment implementation.(101) Although considered by some to be the best option, the role of FDG – PET in assessing disease activity and follow - up is not fully elucidated.(145)

3.2. Medium Vessel Vasculitis (MVV)

3.2.1. Kawasaki Disease (KD)

Timely diagnosis in KD is crucial, since up to 25% of untreated and 5% of intravenous immunoglobulin (IVIG) treated cases will develop coronary artery aneurysms (CA aneurysms, CAAs).(146) TTE is the primary method for initial diagnosis. Its high resolution enables assessment of the CAs diameters, which must be measured from intima to intima and not in proximity to branching points, where they normally tend to be ectatic (picture 4). The number, distribution and maximal diameter of aneurysms must be carefully evaluated, since they are related to disease severity and prognosis.(38,147) Both Japanese Coronary Society (JCS) and American Heart Association (AHA) have established classification systems according to the degree of CA dilation (table 4). The advantage of the latter is that it normalizes the dimensions of CAs as Z - scores (standard deviation units from the mean) and corrects them by body surface area (BSA), namely by height and weight, since the normal size of the arteries depends on the size of the child.(147) The pitfall of this method is that only small deviations in diameter may result in large deviations in z - score, a disproportion that becomes even more prominent in large aneurysms.(148) However, a recent study showed that JCS criteria might underestimate CAs dimensions and therefore the prevalence of CAAs. (149)

Table 4: Classification of coronary arteries dilation in Kawasaki Disease(147,150)					
Japanese Cardiology Society Joint Working Group (2008)					
Aneurysm size Internal diameter OR Number of times internal diamete					
	dilation (mm)	larger than that of an adjacent			
		segment (if child is \geq 5 years of age)			
Small	< 4	≤ 1.5			
Medium	>4 and ≤ 8 mm	1.5-4			
Large	> 8 mm	> 4			

American Heart Association (2017)			
Aneurysm Size	Z-score		
No involvement	Always < 2		
Dilation only	$\geq 2 \text{ and } \leq 2.5 $ OR		
	if initially <2, a decrease in Z-score during follow-up \ge 1, suggesting		
	that CA was dilated during acute stage although diameter was within		
	normal standards and the diameter has regressed on follow-up		
Small	\geq 2.5 and < 5		
Medium	\geq 5 and < 10 AND absolute dimension < 8 mm		
Large or giant	$\geq 10 \text{ OR}$ absolute dimension $\geq 8 \text{ mm}$		

In the acute stage (1st week of fever), coronal abnormalities might be absent; however, TTE must always be performed, since even in this stage, it can reveal myocarditis, valve regurgitation, pericarditis and pericardial effusion.(147,151) Coronary abnormalities typically occur after the acute stage; however the earlier they emerge, the worse the prognosis and, according to some authors, the response to IVIG treatment.(38,152) Very recently, Tsuda et al. reported that CAAs with a maximum internal diameter \geq 6.0 mm or Z – score \geq 7.5 at two months after KD onset showed persisting CAAs in adolescence, with a maximum follow – up of 15 years, whereas normal CAs should be expected for CAAs with maximal internal diameter \leq 3.0 mm or a Z – score \leq 2.5 at two months.(153) Large CAAs are more commonly complicated with stenosis, thrombosis or rupture, and may result to myocardial ischemia and death, while in later stages, they typically appear heavily calcified.(154) Mitral and, more seldom, aortic valve regurgitation, as well as aortic root enlargement can be appreciated by echocardiography.(151) In ambivalent cases, if TTE findings are typical of KD in the acute febrile phase, the diagnosis of incomplete KD can be established.(147) In a cohort study the diagnosis of incomplete KD was set during first TTE in 61% of total cases, whereas another

32% were detected by serial TTE.(155) In accordance to these results, Satoh et al. suggested TTE as a screening method along with serum NT – proBNP in infants younger than three months with fever persisting for more than two days, even if no other indicative findings of KD are present.(156)



Picture 4: Transthoracic echocardiography revealed fusiform aneurysms of the right (arrow) and left anterior descending coronary artery (double arrow). AoV: aortic valve (from: Cameron SA, Robinson JD, Carr MR, Patel A. Giant coronary artery aneurysms in an infant with Kawasaki disease: Evaluation

by echocardiography and computed tomographic angiography. Echocardiography. 2018 Oct;35(10):1692–4).(157)

Myocardial function should be evaluated in all stages through measurement of end – systolic and end – diastolic dimensions of left ventricle (LV), ejection fraction (EF), fractional shortening (FS), LV systolic dyssycnhrony, myocardial performance index (MPI) and by assessing ventricular wall motion,(147,151) for most of which 2D – and 3D – echocardiography (2DE and 3DE, respectively) can be implemented(158–163). In addition, speckle tracking echocardiography (STE) can be utilized for quantitative assessment of myocardial strain in order to demonstrate even subtle myocardial dysfunction.(164,165) Several studies have reported decreased global strain (GS) and global strain rate (GSR) in 2D – and 3D – STE for pediatric and adult populations (166–169) and a few correlated the degree of decrease to the presence of coronary artery lesions (CALs).(168,170) Myocardial deformation and LV function were found by Sanchez et al. to be more restricted in the chronic phase of KD, although within normal range, (171) in contradiction to a study by Xu et al., in which global longitudinal strain (GLS) was significantly decreased during the acute phase, but restored in the chronic stage, regardless of the presence of CAAs.(172) Another study showed that LV dysfunction and dyssynchrony was transient in CAA – negative patients, but persistent in patients with CAAs in the convalescent stage, thus imposing long – term follow up.(173) One study established an increase of GS and GLS after treatment, while another was able to predict IVIG – resistance in children with KD, since they showed more severe LV systolic dysfunction in comparison to IVIG – responsive and healthy controls. These results suggest that STE can be an important prognostic tool for responsiveness to treatment.(174) In most studies, EF was typically preserved, despite LV dysfunction. Diastolic dysfunction in KD was observed within the first 30 days from IVIG initiation; it continued even longer for patients with CA dilation.(175) Transient dilation of the pulmonary artery and RV dysfunction were observed in the acute phase and typically improved after IVIG.(176)

Tissue Doppler Imaging (TDI) is another application of echocardiography that allows elaboration on myocardial function through direct measurement of systolic and diastolic velocities in various myocardial segments.(177) LV dyssynchrony and impaired myocardial deformation assessed with STE and TDI were observed in the acute stage and remained in convalescent stages only in patients with CAAs.(173) Before treatment, myocardial velocities may be lower compared to healthy controls and may be improved, but not normalized, after therapy.(178) A significant compression of diastolic function was described for IVIG – resistant patients, underlining the utility of TDI in foreseeing refractory disease.(177)

Calibrated integrated backscatter analysis (CIB analysis) is an established echocardiographic method that quantifies echogenicity; if tissue edema, cell infiltration, collagen deposition exist, CIB values increase. A study investigated the presence of myocardial fibrosis in various stages of disease and found increased CIB values in patients in comparison to healthy controls, especially in those with CAAs,(179) while another study found no difference regarding CALs a year after disease onset.(180) Nagata et al. performed measurements of CA wall, mitral valve, papillary muscle and ascending aorta wall and reported higher CIB values in KD, that declined over time, although less excessively in IVIG – resistant cases.(181) In similar conclusions came also Abe et al., according to whom coronary artery wall exhibits higher echogenicity in patients with KD, especially in those receiving IVIG and having coronary enlargement in the acute stage.(182) On the other hand, two studies – one through

CIB – found no significant difference in perivascular brightness between patients and controls, underlining its little value in diagnosing incomplete KD.(183,184)(184)

Echocardiography is the major imaging method during follow up therefore AHA recommended, that if initial TTE in normal or shows only CA dilation (Z-score <2), follow – up should be performed after 2 and 4 - 6 weeks, since after that period of time thrombosis is considered unlikely. This recommendation is consistent with the results of various studies that suggest that even borderline z – scores may lapse into CAAs, that may persist even a year after disease onset.(185,186). In cases complicated by evolving lesions, especially large or giant aneurysms, follow – up TTE must be performed twice a week, until lesion growth stops and then once per week for the first 45 days from the disease onset.(147,187) For long – term follow up TTE reliability declines, since middle and especially distal segments of CAs cannot be evaluated, because the thickness of the thoracic wall increases as the child grows.(147,151,187) Moreover, vessel wall changes that occur in later stages – including small calcifications and fibrofatty changes – may cause the artery to appear of normal diameter, although ongoing pathology exists and may produce myocardial ischemia in the appropriate setting. In both cases, further imaging is needed, to assess both vessel anatomy and myocardial function.(151)

Noto et al. utilized a wall motion score index (WMSI) of several segments and concluded that a WMSI \geq 1.125 was positively correlated to a major adverse coronary effect, e.g. an acute myocardial infarct, within a 15 - year follow - up.(188) Stress echocardiography can assist a concealed coronary stenosis emerge, because the increased oxygen demands will not be fulfilled, thus provoke ischemia reflected as wall motion abnormalities.(151,187) Various studies demonstrated the high sensitivity (>90%) and specificity (even reaching 100%) of dobutamine stress echocardiography and its superiority to exercise stress echocardiography.(187) The latter has limitations in children, since their heart rate quickly retreats to normal, minimizing examination time, and also treadmill may not be ideal for younger children.(147)

Intravascular ultrasound (IVUS) can be employed during selective angiography to depict atherosclerotic lesions in CA wall in long – term follow – up.(154) IVUS facilitates the inspection of stenosis or/ and atheromatosis, by measuring intima – media thickness (IMT) and plaque morphology.(187) A retrospective study employed virtual histology IVUS to

correlate the consistency and progression of atherosclerotic – like CALs in KD after one and ten years of disease, however results could not be histologically proven.(189) It has been proposed that intracoronary infusion of acetylcholine and isoborbide dinitrate can be implemented to test vessel response; increased vasoconstriction and reduced vasodilation are indicative of chronic wall changes due to aneurysms, atheromatosis and stenosis.(187)

Ultrasonography is not confined to the heart and CAs. CDUS can efficiently showcase aneurysms in other medium – size arteries, although they are usually rare and not demanding treatment. However, aneurysms in systematic arteries should raise suspicion for CAAs and lead to further investigation.(38) Moreover, several studies have deduced that increased arterial stiffness of the aorta exists in the setting of KD and can be investigated by shear wave elastography (SWE), another application of US.(190–194)

Endothelial dysfunction in the acute phase and atherosclerotic changes in later follow – up stages are typically evaluated in peripheral arteries (table 5), although increased IMT values have also been described for left coronary artery (LCA).(195) According to Wu et al., C – IMT is increased in the acute phase of KD in comparison to other acute infectious diseases, a characteristic that could be helpful in incomplete cases.(196) Increased C – IMT is reported by several studies to be an important index for atheromatosis and prognosis,(146,197–199) perhaps correlated with CALs,(198,199) however contradictive evidence also exists.(200,201) In a meta – analysis of patients at least six months after disease onset, to avoid impingement due to inflammation, mean C – IMT in KD patients and in particular in patients with CAAs was not found to be significantly greater, although a tendency to increased C – IMT was noted.(146,202) Another, more recent, meta – analysis confirms that C – IMT is significantly increased and FMD decreased in KD patients compared to controls.(203) Atherosclerotic changes in CCAs were evaluated by a method combining TCI and STE and found to be significant even in early stages of the disease.(204)

Table 5: Carotid intima – media thickness (C – IMT) in Kawasaki disease								
Acute phase								
Author (year)	Kawasaki disease (mm)	Healthy controls (mm)	p - value					
Wu et al. (2019)(196) $0.550 (0.440 - 0.690)$ $0.483 (0.430 - 0.560)$ 0.01								
Chronic phase								
---	-----------------------	-----------------------	--------	--	--	--	--	--
Gopalan et al. (2018)(197)	0.540 (0.453 – 0.627)	0.420 (0.384 – 0.456)	<0.001					
Parihar et al. (2017)(201)	0.360 (0.345 – 0.375)	0.350 (0.274 – 0.426)	0.791					
			•					
Chen et al. (2017) (198)								
Total	0.490 (0.440 - 0.540)	0.480 (0.420 - 0.540)	0.800					
No CAAs	0.490 (0.430 - 0.550)		0.800					
CAAs	0.490 (0.440 - 0.540)		0.900					
	I							
Dietz et al. (2016) (199)	0.375 (0.372 - 0.378)	0.363 (0.358 - 0.368)	<0.001					
No CAAs	0.373 (0.369 – 0.376)		<0.01					
Small-medium CAAs	0.374 (0.367 – 0.382)		< 0.05					
Giant CAAs	0.381 (0.370 - 0.392)		<0.01					
	1							
Shah et al. (2015)(205)								
RCCA (total)	0.470 (0.390 - 0.580)	0.470 (0.400 - 0.600)	0.770					
RCCA (no CCAs)	0.470 (0.390 - 0.580)		0.590					
RCCA (CAAs)	0.470 (0.390 - 0.580)		0.920					
LCCA (total)	0.460 (0.370 - 0.580)	0.460 (0.410 - 0.600)	0.970					
LCCA (no CCAs)	0.470 (0.370 - 0.530)		0.990					

LCCA (CAAs)	0.460 (0.390 - 0.580)		0.950
	<u> </u>		
Dietz et al. (2015) (206)	0.378 (0.358 - 0.408)	0.360 (0.333 – 0.387)	<0.0001
Laurito et al. (2014)(207)	0.500 (0.400 - 0.600)	0.500 (0.400 - 0.600)	0.930
		0.420.00.200 0.270)	0.000
Ishikawa and Iwashima (2013)(208)		0.430 (0.390 – 0.370)	0.906
CAAs	0.450 (0.447 - 0.453)		NR
No CAAs	0.430 (0.428 - 0.432)		NR
	1		_1
Selamet Tierney et al. (2013)(175)			
RCCA	0.428 (0.424 - 0.452)	0.432 (0.403 - 0.461)	0.35
LCCA	0.438 (0.404 - 0.472)	0.434 (0.406 - 0.462)	0.42
Oguri et al. (2013)(204)	0.400 (0.370 - 0.430)	0.390 (0.386 – 0.394)	0.15
Noto et al. (2012)(209)	0.540(0.460 - 0.620)	0.42 (0.38 - 0.46)	<0.001
CAAs: coronary artery and common carotid artery; N	neurysms; RCCA: right co NR: not referred.	mmon carotid artery; LCC	A: left

Flow – mediated dilation (FMD) is also a marker of endothelial dysfunction that was found reduced in KD by several studies.(146) Dietz et al. in their meta – analysis reported that FMD is significantly decreased in patients with CAAs in the setting of KD,(202) however results are contradicting for the correlation of FMD and CAAs.(201,202,210) Some authors related the duration of the acute inflammatory phase with lower FMD values and thus indirectly with 38 endothelial dysfunction.(146,208,211) Nitroglycerin induced dilation (NID) does not seem to provoke any differences between KD patients and healthy controls, regardless of CAAs.(201,202) Noto et al. conducted CEUS of the carotid arteries in adults with KD having giant CAAs. A higher mean C – IMT and a significantly increased density of adventitial vasa vasorum comparatively to healthy individuals were reported, probably reflecting the inflammatory infiltration and myofibroblast migration of the adventitial vessels.(146)

US can assess implications of parenchymal organs and their vasculature. For example, Chen et al. reported that sonographic gallbladder abnormalities, specifically hydrops and aculculus cholecystitis, may have a prognostic value, since they were more often in non – responders to IVIG treatment.(212) Moreover, US can assist differential diagnosis between bacterial lymphadenitis and lymphadenopathy in KD. Bacterial lymphadenitis is characterized by one prominent enlarged cervical lymph node of altered shape and ill – defined margins, with a hypoechoic, probably necrotic, center. On the contrary, KD lymph nodes are multiple, unilateral and have a beaded appearance ("cluster – of – grapes") with preservation of their shape, well – defined margins and echogenic hilum.(147,213,214) Furthermore, SWE can assist differential diagnosis in cases presenting with fever and cervical lymphadenopathy as first symptoms, since stiffness is greater in bacterial lymphadenopathy.(213)



Picture 5: Aneurysm of the proximal segment of right coronary artery detected by both CTCA and echocardiography. A more distally located aneurysm and calcifications were also revealed by CTCA (from: van Stijn-Bringas Dimitriades D, Planken RN, Groenink M, Streekstra GJ, Kuijpers TW, Kuipers IM. Coronary artery assessment in Kawasaki disease with dual-source CT angiography to uncover vascular pathology. Eur Radiol. 2020 Jan;30(1):432–41).(215)

Regarding other imaging methods, selective coronary angiography remains the method of choice for the evaluation of the degree of stenosis, however due to its invasive character, it is replaced by other modalities. CT coronary angiography (CTCA) can effectively estimate the diameter and size of CAAs. While some authors suggest that CTCA and TTE are equivalent, a recent study reported that the first one established twice the amount of CAAs in the long term follow – up.(215) CTCA is particularly superior in assessing the middle and distal segments, especially with progression of age, as well as thrombi, segmental stenosis and calcifications (picture 5).(38,154) Calcium scoring can be applied to quantify the calcification load in arterial wall. In KD patients, it can evaluate small calcifications and the subsequent stenosis they may cause in CAs, that otherwise appear of normal diameter.(206) A major drawback of CTCA is its inability to establish the degree of stenosis when excessive calcification exists.(148,154) Another one is that CTCA uses ionizing radiation, although low - dose protocols, such as CTCA with prospective ECG - triggering, can be implemented.(206) MR coronary angiography (MRCA) has no ionizing radiation, displays however lower spatial resolution, prolonged scanning times that may require long sedation in children, unavailability and need for specialized personnel to conduct and interpret.(148,154) CMRI including perfusion and late gadolinium enhancement sequences, as well as adenosine protocol, can be utilized to assess myocardial ischemia and fibrosis, stress respectively.(147,154,206) Myocardial perfusion can also be assessed by scintigraphy and PET with thallium or technetium.(147)

3.2.2. Polyarteritis Nodosa (PAN)

US as a diagnostic tool has long been considered of little help for PAN, although it might be used as first approach in young patients.(216) The most indicative finding is multiple microaneurysms (1 – 5mm diameter), either saccular of fusiform, that alternate with stenosis.(217) Furthermore, thickening, irregular morphology and aneurysms in various visceral arteries and perivascular edema of the intrahepatic branches of the hepatic artery presenting as halo have been described.(216) Mainly case reports underlining the importance of US have been published, describing aneurysms most typically in hepatic, renal, mesenteric, cystic and testicular arteries and more rarely in celiac trunk, iliac, carotid and CAs.(216–219) Wang et al. reported the rare case of an arteriovenous fistula between renal artery and vein diagnosed by CDUS, CDUS and CTA yielded similar results in a follow – up period of five years (picture 6).(218) Furthermore, arterial stenosis and occlusion can also be sonographically revealed, such as in a case of occlusion of radial and ulnar arteries in the setting of hand localized PAN.(220) In another case report, the thickened wall and consecutive aneurysmal dilatations of the radial artery set the suspicion of vasculitis.(221) In both cases, and the diagnosis of PAN was confirmed by angiography.(220,221)



Picture 6: (**A**) An aneurysm of the celiac trunk was shown by 3D CTA reconstruction. (**B**) CDUS revealed stenosis proximally, as well as the known aneurysm in which swirling flow was detected (from: Wang H, Li J, Jiang Y, Dai Q, Jiang Y, Hou Y, et al. Polyarteritis nodosa with multiple aneurysms and renal arteriovenous fistula successfully diagnosed by color Doppler sonography. Clin Rheumatol. 2013 Mar;32 Suppl 1:S89-92).(218)

US may help assess other organs, mainly the gallbladder, testis and kidneys, particularly for ischemic complications.(216) Epididymoorchitis or mass – like testicular lesions, particularly in the setting of multisystemic inflammation, should orientate towards the diagnosis of vasculitis.(222) Single – organ PAN of the testis is described in literature and CDUS can assist differential diagnosis from mechanical causes, such as torsion (222,223). Last but not least, US was reported to evaluate peripheral nerves in the setting of PAN, in a case of non – localizing axonal neuropathy.(224)

Angiography of visceral arteries is the imaging method of choice, especially when biopsy cannot be obtained, since it is highly sensitive for microaneurysms. CTA and MRA are also utilized for diagnosis and follow – up. FDG - PET may particularly assist in cases of ambiguity. Increased uptake by muscular connective tissue is pathognomonic for PAN(225), while the leopard skin appearance produced by hot foci in muscle and subcutaneous tissues throughout the body is often described in literature.(225,226)

3.3. Small Vessel Vasculitis (SVV)

According to CHCC2012, SVV affects small arteries, arterioles, capillaries and venules of parenchymal organs, while medium size arteries and veins might also be involved.(1) Evidence on the role of US in SVV remains limited.

Multimodality imaging is important in assessing aortitis in the setting of SVV, with findings indistinguishable from those of other causes. TTE and TEE may reveal thickening, hypoechogenicity due to edema, aneurysm, stenosis and other lesions of the aortic root.(227) High prevalence of cardiac involvement characterizes SVV, especially GPA and EGPA; systolic and diastolic myocardial dysfunction evident as wall motion abnormalities, high – grade valvular dysfunction, CALs, pericardial effusion, myocarditis and ventricular masses, typically eosinophilic, may be detected even in asymptomatic patients. Echocardiography plus STE and TDI are first line in cardiac assessment.(228–234) Rare cases of aneurysms of multiple visceral arteries in ANCA – associated vasculitis (AAV) may evident by US.(235) SVV is also associated to thromboemoblic events, due to endothelial damage and hypercoagulability, for the diagnosis of which CDUS remains the method of choice.(236,237)

The main use of US is the assessment of the extent of SVV in parenchymal organs, such as kidneys, lungs, testis, breast, bowel.(238–246) Multimodality imaging is implemented according to suspected underlying pathology in order to verify diagnosis.(38)

5.4. Variable Vessel Vasculitis (VVV)

5.4.1. Behcet's disease (BD)

Ultrasound has a multi – purpose role in the diagnosis, prognosis and follow – up of BD. Venous lesions consist 70% of vascular involvement and typically occur as deep venous thrombosis (DVT) of the lower limbs veins, superior and inferior vena cava (SVC and IVC, respectively).(247) DVT appears symmetrically in lower extremities, contiguously progressing from the common femoral vein proximally and distally in both deep and superficial veins.(248) Increased vein wall thickness (VWT) has been proposed as a diagnostic marker (table 6).(249–251) Alibaz – Oner et al. validated over two studies that VWT \geq 0.75mm indicated BD with high probability in suspected cases. Moreover, VWT was significantly increased in BD, contrarily to other systematic inflammatory diseases except for ankylosing spondylitis.(251)

VWT was also proposed as a prognostic marker. The mean VWT was found significantly increased in BD patients regardless of DVT history compared to healthy controls, implying that thickening might be indicative of inflammation or even future DVT. Further research is needed to validate the proposed cut – off values, that may indicate patients in danger of DVT, so as to reconsider management.(249) Another promising prognostic marker could be the degree of recanalization after DVT, since it was reported that recanalization is more often incomplete and with more excessive collaterals in BD in comparison to DVT from other causes.(248) In a prospective follow – up study of patients presenting with lower limb DVT as the first symptom of BD, poor recanalization was found to be the only significant predictor of recurrence, though further validation is required.(252) Last but not least, concerning the prevalence of venous disease in BD without overt venous symptoms, one study reported no episodes of thrombosis, while another described subacute – chronic thrombosis of only the popliteal veins. Thrombotic events in upper limbs were not observed. Venous insufficiency was significantly more frequent in BD than in healthy controls in both studies. (253,254)

Most common arterial lesions are aneurysms, a major mortality cause due to risk of rupture. Usually the abdominal aorta and less regularly other arteries are affected. Stenosis, occlusion and less frequently pseudoaneurysms are described.(247,255) The risk of arterial thrombosis increases with underlying aneurysms, since reportedly 40% of patients with aneurysm have

undergone a thrombotic episode. Routine examination was suggested for possible thrombosis in such cases, although the value of CDUS is unknown.(256) US may be important in the post – operative follow up of arterial lesions and their complications, although a constructed protocol has not yet been suggested.(255)

Autnor (Year)	Vein	VWT cut – off (mm)	Sensitivity (%)	Specificity (%)	PPV (%)	NPV (%)	AUC
Seyahi et a (2019)(248)	l.		1				
	CFV	0.617	72	90	87.8	76.3	0.83
	FV	0.557	74	94	92.5	78.3	0.85
	GSV	0.447	82	66	70.7	78.6	0.80
Alibaz – O (2019)(250)	ner et al.	-					
	RT CFV	0.490	81	78.4	85.7	72.5	0.85
	LT CFV	0.480	82.8	81.1	87.5	75	0.85
Alibaz - O (2021)(251)	ner et al.						
Alibaz - O (2021)(251)	RT CFV	0.500	90.7	94.5	84.3	75.4	0.94

Several studies have addressed markers of endothelial dysfunction designated by US, highlighting its prognostic value. Contradicting evidence exists on the difference of C- IMT between BD patients and healthy controls, (257–263), a discrepancy reflected in a meta – analysis, in which C – IMT was found to be increased in BD, however significant study heterogeneity was underlined.(263) Two studies positively correlated the duration of disease with IMT, one in femoral arteries in patients without known vascular involvement(259) and the other with C – IMT in patients with ocular BD. The latter study also showed that every 0.1mm increase of C – IMT independently enhances the probability of BD by 26 times.(264) One study investigated if the carotid extra – medial thickness (C – EMT), defined as the distance between the carotid media – adventitia interface and jugular intima – lumen interface, could provide prognostic information, however it was not significantly different between active BD and healthy subjects.(260) Serial carotid CDUS may reveal reduction of the C – IMT over long – term follow – up, an assumption that requires further research.(265)



Picture 7: Increased vein wall thickness in the posterior wall of a common femoral vein of a patient with Behcet's disease and prior thrombotic episodes (from: Seyahi E, Ucgul A, Cebi Olgun D, Ugurlu S, Akman C, Tutar O, et al. Aortic and coronary calcifications in Takayasu arteritis. Semin Arthritis Rheum. 2013 Aug;43(1):96–104.).(249)

Ozisler and Kaplanoglu, evaluated C – IMT and arterial stiffness in patients with BD by ultrasound radiofrequency (US RF) technology. US RF combines the morphological data acquired by US and the RF data of wall movement to provide less operator – dependent and more precise measurements. Stiffness indices were significantly higher in the vast majority, while all distensibility (DC) and compliance coefficients (CC) were significantly lower, signifying increased arterial stiffness in the patient group, although C – IMT was not

different. The non – significant difference of C – IMT could be attributed to the fact that arterial stiffness is detected earlier than an increase of C – IMT.(257) SWE also showed significantly higher CCA stiffness in BD patients compared to healthy controls, however no statistically significant difference was observed concerning neuro – BD (NBD).(262)

Brachial FMD was validated as significantly decreased in BD patients by several studies, (263,266,267) and some even correlated it negatively to disease activity and duration.(266,268) NID was found to be impaired by Merashli et al., despite the increased heterogeneity.(263) Last but not least, epicardial fat thickness (EFT) was suggested as a novel risk factor, due to its relation with visceral adipose tissue and pro – inflammatory cytokines. EFT was found by TTE to be significantly increased in BD.(264,268) Tasolar et al. also established a positive correlation of EFT with the activity and duration of BD.(268)

Cardiac manifestations consist a leading morbidity and mortality cause in BD and include pulmonary artery aneurysms (PAAs), intracardiac thrombus (ICT), aortic root aortitis and aneurysms, endomyocardial fibrosis, ventricular and valvular dysfunction, valvulitis and sporadically endocarditis, myocarditis, pericarditis, dilated cardiomyopathy, acute myocardial infarction, ventricular aneurysms and acute heart failure.(60,247,269,270) The incidence of cardiac involvement is not fully elucidated and therefore, despite their lethal outcomes, present data do not suggest TTE as a screening method in asymptomatic patients.(270)

The most frequent cardiac complications, up to almost 50% of BD patients, are aortitis with subsequent dilation and aneurysm of the aortic root. Aortitis may appear at TTE and TEE with hypoechoic mural thickening in the acute phase and increased echogenicity with stenotic segments due to fibrosis in later stages.(227,271) The sinus of Valsalva is the most common site of aneurysms and may be associated with other arterial aneurysms, such as CAAs. In the setting of an aortic root aneurysm, chronic or acute aortic regurgitation may arise.(269) Pathognomonic TTE findings for aortic regurgitation are prolapsed cusps, thinned, aneurysmal aortic leaflets, mobile mass – like lesions, echo free spaces within the annulus and annular dilation. Aortic regurgitation usually requires surgical root replacement accompanied by perioperative immunosuppressive therapy.(269,271) Surgery might be accompanied by early postoperative complications and regurgitation recurrence,(269,271) especially in patients not properly diagnosed pre – operatively.(272) Complications and mortality decreased after pathognomonic TTE findings were introduced, underlining the pivotal role of

echocardiography in the early diagnosis of BD.(273) Song et al. suggested a scoring system that consisted of pre – operative TEE findings and adequately predicted recurrence (69% sensitivity, 89% specificity).(274) Further research should investigate the appropriateness of echocardiography for the follow – up of post – operative complications of the aortic root.(275,276)

Coronary abnormalities are rarely reported.(277) Aneurysms, pseudoaneurysms and stenoses are the most common lesions and may be associated with acute coronary or other cardiac events.(271,277–281) A few cases of enlarged CAAs diagnosed by TTE and IVUS have been reported.(278,281–284). CDUS could be the cornerstone in assessing vessels that might be convenient as coronary by – pass grafts, in order to rule out vasculitic changes and reduce post – operative complications.(277)

BD is the most frequent cause of PAAs, most commonly affecting male patients. They usually are pseudoaneurysms with a mural thrombus of various sizes. They can be complicated by total thrombosis and subsequent pulmonary infarction or by bronchopulmonary fistulas or aneurysm rupture within a bronchus followed by pulmonary hemorrhage and hemoptysis. Only trunk and main pulmonary arteries are accessible by echocardiography. This location is common, although the right lower lobe vessels are affected most frequently. After implementation of therapy stabilization and deterioration may be evident by TTE.(269) In situ pulmonary artery thrombosis may be provoked by PAAs and pulmonary vasculitis,(247,285) while pulmonary embolism is not that typical, since thrombi are strongly adherent to the venous wall.(285)

Endothelial inflammation, ischemia and probably endomyocardial fibrosis contribute to ICT formation, another serious complication most frequently affecting young men around the Mediterranean Sea and in Middle East.(269,270) ICT can be adequately recognized sonographically as a heterogenous, moderate – to – high echogenic, moderately mobile material with a broad attachment within the ventricles. Thrombi may be multiple and typically involve the right ventricle (RV) and scarcely the LV and atria.(269,286) ICT may be misdiagnosed as cardiac tumor or endocardiac vegetations, however diagnosis is crucial, in order to avoid unnecessary interventions and prevent complications, such as valvular and myocardial dysfunction or thromboembolic events.(287) Spontaneous echocardiographic contrast (SEC) phenomenon, which represents a hyperechoic whirling pattern noticed

sonographically as "smoke", can assist, since it appears only in thrombotic events.(287,288) In case of ICT at presentation, especially in young men from endemic areas, further diagnostic workup for BD should follow.(287) The extent of thrombosis may inflict on treatment: an isolated RV ICT may require only aggressive anti – inflammatory therapy, while a thrombosis extending to SVC and/or IVC further requires anti – coagulants and GC. It is important to discriminate between the two situations, since a high percentage of BD cases with ICT receiving anti – coagulants are complicated with fatal hemorrhagic events.(289) ICT typically shrinks and resolves during successful therapy and thus echocardiography may provide information about the adequacy of treatment.(286)

Clinically apparent systolic ventricular dysfunction is not typical in BD. Subclinical systolic dysfunction has been reported by several studies.(277,290) The GLS deduced by 2D – STE was significantly decreased in BD patients in comparison to healthy controls in many studies, despite normal TTE and TDI findings in some of them and no correlation to disease activity. (290–292) Yurdakul et al. utilized TDI variables, such as peak myocardial isovolumetric ventricular velocity and acceleration (IVV and IVA, respectively), as well as velocity vector imaging (VVI). IVV, IVA, as well as GS and GSR in VVI, were significantly lower in BD patients compared to healthy subjects for both ventricles, strongly suggesting systolic dysfunction.(267)

Diastolic dysfunction remains ambiguous, with more studies supporting the presence of LV diastolic dysfunction. Both deceleration time (DT) and isovolumetric relaxation time (IVRT) were found considerably longer in BD patients, the ratio of peak early to peak end diastolic velocity (E/A for CDUS and Em/Am for TDE) and the E/Em ratio was significantly increased in several studies (293–297) Hidayet et al. deduced lower GLS and global area strain (GAS) in BD patients using real time 3D – STE, particularly in patients with fragmented QRS complex in electrocardiogram (ECG). This implies that the low – cost ECG and TTE may effectively predict subclinical myocardial dysfunction early in the disease course.(298) Real – time 3D – STE revealed an almost universal augmentation of left atrium volume and systolic function to be a highly sensitive, indirect marker of LV diastolic dysfunction.(296) Atrial electromechanical delay (EMD) was also investigated by TDI in two studies, since structural and electrophysiological changes of the ventricular and atrial myocardium may provoke conduction disturbances.(293,297,299) Atrial conduction times were significantly prolonged

and positively correlated to inflammatory markers, disease activity and the risk of atrial fibrillation.(293,297,299)

Apart from vascular BD, US can provide valuable information on ocular, articular, gastrointestinal and CNS forms of BD. Akcar et al. found significantly decreased flow velocities in the retrobulbar vessels and ICA in patients with ocular BD in opposition to non – ocular BD and healthy controls. Nasal posterior ciliary arteries' flow velocities were significantly lower in active uveitis and could therefore be used in the follow-up of those patients.(300) In NBD, TCD was able to reveal low PSV and resistivity index (RI) in cerebral arteries and similar flow abnormalities were found in BD patients without neurological symptoms and MR findings, a property of TCD that may be helpful to pre – symptomatically recognize NBD. The imprint of such recognition is yet to be clarified.(301) Moreover, CDUS of the vertebral arteries revealed reduced total flow volume (TFV) and flow velocities in BD patients. Mean velocity (MV) was significantly lower in the NBD patients and since it is considered a more accurate marker of tissue perfusion, its early detection might facilitate diagnosis and prognosis of NBD.(302) US was used to diagnose erosive metacarpophalangeal joint arthritis and subclinical enthesitis, while it may allow the differential diagnosis between BD and other causes of inflammatory arthritis and osteoarthritis.(303-305) Last but not least, in cases of abdominal aortic stent placement ovarian arterial supply might be irreversibly impaired causing infertility and early menopause. CDUS might have a role in assessing ovarian vasculature post – operatively.(306)

CTA/CTV is preferred to evaluate deep vessels for aortitis or DVT, while CT pulmonary angiography (CTPA) is the golden standard for pulmonary arteries (101) and CTCA for CALs.(60) FDG – PET and MRI/MRA are also useful in imaging aortitis.(60,307) CMRI may be able to distinguish ICT from cardiac tumors, mainly based on the absence of late gadolinium enhancement of ICT. Although rim enhancement of endocardiac vegetation has been reported, ICT and vegetations may be extremely hard to discern.(308,309) Non – contrast enhanced MR venography (MRV) was superior in assessing the extent of collateral vessels in lower limbs compared to CDUS, a property that may facilitate therapeutic decisions.(310)

3.4.2. Cogan's syndrome (CS)

CS is a rare disorder with primary ocular and audio-vestibular disturbances.(311) CS may encompass vasculitis of medium – and large – size vessels, including aortitis, aortic and mitral valvulitis and insufficiency, aneurysms, CALs, thrombosis and others.(38,60,311) The role of imaging in CS is not well – established and typically follows the imaging patterns of the rest vasculitides.(60,311–313)

4. Discussion - Conclusions

After meticulously searching and reviewing existing literature, one can confidently conclude that the contribution of US in the diagnosis, prognosis and follow - up of systemic vasculitis has been and remains fundamental. Apart from entrenched applications, such as Color and Pulsed Wave Doppler, novel possibilities arise with the introduction of contrast - enhanced ultrasound, calibrated integrated backscatter analysis and. especially regarding echocardiography, Speckle Tracking Echocardiography and Tissue Doppler Imaging. The advantages and disadvantages of US are well - established, the implementation however of more modern techniques can optimize the US potential, particularly in assessing disease activity and success of treatment, two domains for which the role of imaging remains vague.

5. References

- 1. Jennette JC, Falk RJ, Bacon PA, Basu N, Cid MC, Ferrario F, et al. 2012 Revised International Chapel Hill Consensus Conference Nomenclature of Vasculitides. Arthritis & Rheumatism. 2013;65(1):1–11.
- 2. Guggenberger K, Bley T. Imaging in Large Vessel Vasculitides. Rofo. 2019 Dec;191(12):1083–90.
- Prieto-González S, Espígol-Frigolé G, García-Martínez A, Alba MA, Tavera-Bahillo I, Hernández-Rodríguez J, et al. The Expanding Role of Imaging in Systemic Vasculitis. Rheum Dis Clin North Am. 2016 Nov;42(4):733–51.
- 4. Dejaco C, Ramiro S, Duftner C, Besson FL, Bley TA, Blockmans D, et al. EULAR recommendations for the use of imaging in large vessel vasculitis in clinical practice. Ann Rheum Dis. 2018 May;77(5):636–43.
- 5. Hauenstein C, Reinhard M, Geiger J, Markl M, Hetzel A, Treszl A, et al. Effects of early corticosteroid treatment on magnetic resonance imaging and ultrasonography findings in giant cell arteritis. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2012 Nov;51(11):1999–2003.
- 6. Chrysidis S, Duftner C, Dejaco C, Schäfer VS, Ramiro S, Carrara G, et al. Definitions and reliability assessment of elementary ultrasound lesions in giant cell arteritis: a study from the OMERACT Large Vessel Vasculitis Ultrasound Working Group. RMD Open. 2018;4(1):e000598.
- 7. Muratore F, Boiardi L, Restuccia G, Macchioni P, Pazzola G, Nicolini A, et al. Comparison between colour duplex sonography findings and different histological patterns of temporal artery. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2013 Dec;52(12):2268–74.
- 8. van der Geest KSM, Wolfe K, Borg F, Sebastian A, Kayani A, Tomelleri A, et al. Ultrasonographic Halo Score in giant cell arteritis: association with intimal hyperplasia and ischaemic sight loss. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2021 Sep 1;60(9):4361–6.
- 9. Ponte C, Martins-Martinho J, Luqmani RA. Diagnosis of giant cell arteritis. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2020 May 1;59(Suppl 3):iii5–16.
- Duftner C, Dejaco C, Sepriano A, Falzon L, Schmidt WA, Ramiro S. Imaging in diagnosis, outcome prediction and monitoring of large vessel vasculitis: a systematic literature review and meta-analysis informing the EULAR recommendations. RMD Open. 2018;4(1):e000612.
- 11. Arida A, Kyprianou M, Kanakis M, Sfikakis PP. The diagnostic value of ultrasonography-derived edema of the temporal artery wall in giant cell arteritis: a second metaanalysis. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2010 Mar 8;11:44.
- 12. Ball EL, Walsh SR, Tang TY, Gohil R, Clarke JMF. Role of ultrasonography in the diagnosis of temporal arteritis. Br J Surg. 2010 Dec;97(12):1765–71.

- 13. Rinagel M, Chatelus E, Jousse-Joulin S, Sibilia J, Gottenberg J-E, Chasset F, et al. Diagnostic performance of temporal artery ultrasound for the diagnosis of giant cell arteritis: a systematic review and meta-analysis of the literature. Autoimmun Rev. 2019 Jan;18(1):56–61.
- 14. Sebastian A, Coath F, Innes S, Jackson J, van der Geest KSM, Dasgupta B. Role of the halo sign in the assessment of giant cell arteritis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Rheumatol Adv Pract. 2021;5(3):rkab059.
- Fernández-Fernández E, Monjo-Henry I, Bonilla G, Plasencia C, Miranda-Carús M-E, Balsa A, et al. False positives in the ultrasound diagnosis of giant cell arteritis: some diseases can also show the halo sign. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2020 Sep 1;59(9):2443– 7.
- 16. Berger CT, Sommer G, Aschwanden M, Staub D, Rottenburger C, Daikeler T. The clinical benefit of imaging in the diagnosis and treatment of giant cell arteritis. Swiss Med Wkly. 2018 Aug 13;148:w14661.
- 17. Aschwanden M, Daikeler T, Kesten F, Baldi T, Benz D, Tyndall A, et al. Temporal artery compression sign--a novel ultrasound finding for the diagnosis of giant cell arteritis. Ultraschall Med. 2013 Feb;34(1):47–50.
- Noumegni SR, Hoffmann C, Cornec D, Gestin S, Bressollette L, Jousse-Joulin S. Temporal Artery Ultrasound to Diagnose Giant Cell Arteritis: A Practical Guide. Ultrasound Med Biol. 2021 Feb;47(2):201–13.
- 19. Aschwanden M, Imfeld S, Staub D, Baldi T, Walker UA, Berger CT, et al. The ultrasound compression sign to diagnose temporal giant cell arteritis shows an excellent interobserver agreement. Clin Exp Rheumatol. 2015 Apr;33(2 Suppl 89):S-113-115.
- 20. Ponte C, Serafim AS, Monti S, Fernandes E, Lee E, Singh S, et al. Early variation of ultrasound halo sign with treatment and relation with clinical features in patients with giant cell arteritis. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2020 Dec 1;59(12):3717–26.
- 21. Maldini C, Dépinay-Dhellemmes C, Tra TTS, Chauveau M, Allanore Y, Gossec L, et al. Limited value of temporal artery ultrasonography examinations for diagnosis of giant cell arteritis: analysis of 77 subjects. J Rheumatol. 2010 Nov;37(11):2326–30.
- 22. Halbach C, McClelland CM, Chen J, Li S, Lee MS. Use of Noninvasive Imaging in Giant Cell Arteritis. Asia Pac J Ophthalmol (Phila). 2018 Aug;7(4):260–4.
- 23. Schmidt WA. Ultrasound in the diagnosis and management of giant cell arteritis. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2018 Feb 1;57(suppl_2):ii22–31.
- 24. Luqmani R, Lee E, Singh S, Gillett M, Schmidt WA, Bradburn M, et al. The Role of Ultrasound Compared to Biopsy of Temporal Arteries in the Diagnosis and Treatment of Giant Cell Arteritis (TABUL): a diagnostic accuracy and cost-effectiveness study. Health Technol Assess. 2016 Nov;20(90):1–238.

- 25. Barra L, Kanji T, Malette J, Pagnoux C, CanVasc. Imaging modalities for the diagnosis and disease activity assessment of Takayasu's arteritis: A systematic review and metaanalysis. Autoimmun Rev. 2018 Feb;17(2):175–87.
- 26. Seitz L, Lötscher F. The intima-media thickness in suspected giant cell arteritissometimes it is worth taking a closer look. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2021 Jul 1;60(7):3039–41.
- Czihal M, Schröttle A, Baustel K, Lottspeich C, Dechant C, Treitl K-M, et al. B-mode sonography wall thickness assessment of the temporal and axillary arteries for the diagnosis of giant cell arteritis: a cohort study. Clin Exp Rheumatol. 2017 Apr;35 Suppl 103(1):128–33.
- Schäfer VS, Juche A, Ramiro S, Krause A, Schmidt WA. Ultrasound cut-off values for intima-media thickness of temporal, facial and axillary arteries in giant cell arteritis. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2017 Sep 1;56(9):1479–83.
- 29. Ješe R, Rotar Ž, Tomšič M, Hočevar A. The cut-off values for the intima-media complex thickness assessed by colour Doppler sonography in seven cranial and aortic arch arteries. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2021 Mar 2;60(3):1346–52.
- 30. De Miguel E, Beltran LM, Monjo I, Deodati F, Schmidt WA, Garcia-Puig J. Atherosclerosis as a potential pitfall in the diagnosis of giant cell arteritis. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2018 Feb 1;57(2):318–21.
- Czihal M, Köhler A, Lottspeich C, Prearo I, Hoffmann U, Schulze-Koops H, et al. Temporal artery compression sonography for the diagnosis of giant cell arteritis in elderly patients with acute ocular arterial occlusions. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2021 May 14;60(5):2190–6.
- 32. Sundholm JKM, Paetau A, Albäck A, Pettersson T, Sarkola T. Non-Invasive Vascular Very-High Resolution Ultrasound to Quantify Artery Intima Layer Thickness: Validation of the Four-Line Pattern. Ultrasound Med Biol. 2019 Aug;45(8):2010–8.
- 33. De Miguel E, Roxo A, Castillo C, Peiteado D, Villalba A, Martín-Mola E. The utility and sensitivity of colour Doppler ultrasound in monitoring changes in giant cell arteritis. Clin Exp Rheumatol. 2012 Feb;30(1 Suppl 70):S34-38.
- Ford JA, DiIorio MA, Huang W, Sobiesczcyk P, Docken WP, Tedeschi SK. Follow-up vascular ultrasounds in patients with giant cell arteritis. Clin Exp Rheumatol. 2020 Apr;38 Suppl 124(2):107–11.
- 35. Santoro L, D'Onofrio F, Bernardi S, Gremese E, Ferraccioli G, Santoliquido A. Temporal ultrasonography findings in temporal arteritis: early disappearance of halo sign after only 2 days of steroid treatment. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2013 Apr;52(4):622.
- 36. Habib HM, Essa AA, Hassan AA. Color duplex ultrasonography of temporal arteries: role in diagnosis and follow-up of suspected cases of temporal arteritis. Clin Rheumatol. 2012 Feb;31(2):231–7.

- 37. Monti S, Floris A, Ponte CB, Schmidt WA, Diamantopoulos AP, Pereira C, et al. The proposed role of ultrasound in the management of giant cell arteritis in routine clinical practice. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2018 Jan 1;57(1):112–9.
- 38. Weinrich JM, Lenz A, Adam G, François CJ, Bannas P. Radiologic Imaging in Large and Medium Vessel Vasculitis. Radiol Clin North Am. 2020 Jul;58(4):765–79.
- 39. Coath FL, Mukhtyar C. Ultrasonography in the diagnosis and follow-up of giant cell arteritis. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2021 Jun 18;60(6):2528–36.
- 40. Aschwanden M, Kesten F, Stern M, Thalhammer C, Walker UA, Tyndall A, et al. Vascular involvement in patients with giant cell arteritis determined by duplex sonography of 2x11 arterial regions. Ann Rheum Dis. 2010 Jul;69(7):1356–9.
- 41. Schmidt WA, Kraft HE, Borkowski A, Gromnica-Ihle EJ. Color duplex ultrasonography in large-vessel giant cell arteritis. Scand J Rheumatol. 1999;28(6):374–6.
- 42. Schmidt WA, Moll A, Seifert A, Schicke B, Gromnica-Ihle E, Krause A. Prognosis of large-vessel giant cell arteritis. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2008 Sep;47(9):1406–8.
- 43. Czihal M, Tatò F, Rademacher A, Kuhlencordt P, Schulze-Koops H, Hoffmann U. Involvement of the femoropopliteal arteries in giant cell arteritis: clinical and color duplex sonography. J Rheumatol. 2012 Feb;39(2):314–21.
- 44. Monti S, Floris A, Ponte C, Schmidt WA, Diamantopoulos AP, Pereira C, et al. The use of ultrasound to assess giant cell arteritis: review of the current evidence and practical guide for the rheumatologist. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2018 Feb 1;57(2):227–35.
- 45. Soares C, Costa A, Santos R, Abreu P, Castro P, Azevedo E. Clinical, Laboratory and Ultrasonographic Interrelations in Giant Cell Arteritis. J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis. 2021 Apr;30(4):105601.
- 46. Ponte C, Monti S, Scirè CA, Delvino P, Khmelinskii N, Milanesi A, et al. Ultrasound halo sign as a potential monitoring tool for patients with giant cell arteritis: a prospective analysis. Ann Rheum Dis. 2021 Nov;80(11):1475–82.
- Hafner F, Haas E, Belaj K, Froehlich H, Gary T, Eller P, et al. Endothelial function and carotid intima-media thickness in giant-cell arteritis. Eur J Clin Invest. 2014;44(3):249– 56.
- 48. Conticini E, Sota J, Falsetti P, Baldi C, Bardelli M, Bellisai F, et al. The Role of Multimodality Imaging in Monitoring Disease Activity and Therapeutic Response to Tocilizumab in Giant Cell Arteritis. Mediators Inflamm. 2020;2020:3203241.
- 49. Diamantopoulos AP, Haugeberg G, Hetland H, Soldal DM, Bie R, Myklebust G. Diagnostic value of color Doppler ultrasonography of temporal arteries and large vessels in giant cell arteritis: a consecutive case series. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2014 Jan;66(1):113–9.

- 50. Hop H, Mulder DJ, Sandovici M, Glaudemans AWJM, van Roon AM, Slart RHJA, et al. Diagnostic value of axillary artery ultrasound in patients with suspected giant cell arteritis. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2020 Dec 1;59(12):3676–84.
- 51. Nielsen BD, Hansen IT, Keller KK, Therkildsen P, Gormsen LC, Hauge E-M. Diagnostic accuracy of ultrasound for detecting large-vessel giant cell arteritis using FDG PET/CT as the reference. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2020 Aug 1;59(8):2062–73.
- 52. Dasgupta B, Smith K, Khan AAS, Coath F, Wakefield RJ. "Slope sign": a feature of large vessel vasculitis? Ann Rheum Dis. 2019 Dec;78(12):1738.
- 53. Czihal M, Zanker S, Rademacher A, Tatò F, Kuhlencordt PJ, Schulze-Koops H, et al. Sonographic and clinical pattern of extracranial and cranial giant cell arteritis. Scand J Rheumatol. 2012 May;41(3):231–6.
- 54. Ješe R, Rotar Ž, Tomšič M, Hočevar A. The role of colour doppler ultrasonography of facial and occipital arteries in patients with giant cell arteritis: A prospective study. Eur J Radiol. 2017 Oct;95:9–12.
- 55. Kargiotis O, Psychogios K, Safouris A, Bakola E, Andreadou E, Karapanayiotides T, et al. Cervical duplex ultrasound for the diagnosis of giant cell arteritis with vertebral artery involvement. J Neuroimaging. 2021 Jul;31(4):656–64.
- 56. Ertl M, Altmann M, Torka E, Helbig H, Bogdahn U, Gamulescu A, et al. The retrobulbar "spot sign" as a discriminator between vasculitic and thrombo-embolic affections of the retinal blood supply. Ultraschall Med. 2012 Dec;33(7):E263–7.
- 57. Jianu DC, Jianu SN, Munteanu M, Vlad D, Rosca C, Petrica L. Color Doppler imaging features in patients presenting central retinal artery occlusion with and without giant cell arteritis. Vojnosanit Pregl. 2016 Apr;73(4):397–401.
- 58. Berti A, Campochiaro C, Cavalli G, Pepe G, Praderio L, Sabbadini MG, et al. Giant cell arteritis restricted to the limb arteries: An overlooked clinical entity. Autoimmun Rev. 2015 Apr;14(4):352–7.
- 59. Ghinoi A, Pipitone N, Nicolini A, Boiardi L, Silingardi M, Germanò G, et al. Largevessel involvement in recent-onset giant cell arteritis: a case-control colour-Doppler sonography study. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2012 Apr;51(4):730–4.
- 60. Hartlage GR, Palios J, Barron BJ, Stillman AE, Bossone E, Clements SD, et al. Multimodality imaging of aortitis. JACC Cardiovasc Imaging. 2014 Jun;7(6):605–19.
- 61. Barbato VA, Castro R, Goertz A. Case report and review of the literature: floating aortic thrombus. Am J Med. 2014 May;127(5):e3-4.
- 62. Valente F, Carro A, Moral S, Evangelista A. Multiple thrombi in the ascending aorta: usefulness of contrast transesophageal echocardiography in a case of Horton's aortitis. Circulation. 2013 Jul 23;128(4):e44-45.

- 63. Singh S, Michelena HI, Warrington KJ. The nails give it away. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2011 Feb 22;57(8):996.
- 64. Palmers P-J, Ameloot K, De Wever W, Goffin K, Voigt JU. An echocardiographic finding leading to the diagnosis of giant cell arteritis. Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging. 2013 May;14(5):434.
- 65. Müller H, Willi J-P, Lerch R. Non-infectious large vessel vasculitis of the aorta: diagnosis by echocardiography and cardiac positron emission tomography-computed tomography. Eur Heart J. 2010 Sep;31(18):2245.
- 66. Chatterjee S, Flamm SD, Tan CD, Rodriguez ER. Clinical diagnosis and management of large vessel vasculitis: giant cell arteritis. Curr Cardiol Rep. 2014 Jul;16(7):498.
- 67. Czihal M, Piller A, Schroettle A, Kuhlencordt PJ, Schulze-Koops H, Hoffmann U. Outcome of giant cell arteritis of the arm arteries managed with medical treatment alone: cross-sectional follow-up study. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2013 Feb;52(2):282–6.
- Czihal M, Piller A, Schroettle A, Kuhlencordt P, Bernau C, Schulze-Koops H, et al. Impact of cranial and axillary/subclavian artery involvement by color duplex sonography on response to treatment in giant cell arteritis. J Vasc Surg. 2015 May;61(5):1285– 91.
- 69. Lambrechts RA, Uyttenboogaart M, Drost G. A vertebral artery halo sign indicates giant cell arteritis affecting the posterior circulation of the brain. Lancet. 2021 Feb 13;397(10274):e6.
- García-García J, Ayo-Martín Ó, Argandoña-Palacios L, Segura T. Vertebral artery halo sign in patients with stroke: a key clue for the prompt diagnosis of giant cell arteritis. Stroke. 2011 Nov;42(11):3287–90.
- 71. Gehlen M, Schaefer N, Schwarz-Eywill M, Maier A. Ultrasound to detect involvement of vertebral artery in giant cell arteritis. Clin Exp Rheumatol. 2018 Apr;36 Suppl 111(2):169–70.
- 72. García-Martínez A, Arguis P, Prieto-González S, Espígol-Frigolé G, Alba MA, Butjosa M, et al. Prospective long term follow-up of a cohort of patients with giant cell arteritis screened for aortic structural damage (aneurysm or dilatation). Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases. 2014 Oct 1;73(10):1826–32.
- 73. Hellmich B, Agueda A, Monti S, Buttgereit F, Boysson H de, Brouwer E, et al. 2018 Update of the EULAR recommendations for the management of large vessel vasculitis. Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases. 2020 Jan 1;79(1):19–30.
- 74. Sommer F, Spörl E, Herber R, Pillunat LE, Terai N. Predictive value of positive temporal artery biopsies in patients with clinically suspected giant cell arteritis considering temporal artery ultrasound findings. Graefes Arch Clin Exp Ophthalmol. 2019 Oct;257(10):2279–84.

- 75. Croft AP, Thompson N, Duddy MJ, Barton C, Khattak F, Mollan SP, et al. Cranial ultrasound for the diagnosis of giant cell arteritis. A retrospective cohort study. J R Coll Physicians Edinb. 2015;45(4):268–72.
- Gielis JF, Geelhoed R, Yogeswaran SK, Lauwers P, Van Schil P, Hendriks JMH. Evaluation of Temporal Artery Duplex Ultrasound for Diagnosis of Temporal Arteritis. J Surg Res. 2021 May;261:320–5.
- 77. Germanò G, Muratore F, Cimino L, Lo Gullo A, Possemato N, Macchioni P, et al. Is colour duplex sonography-guided temporal artery biopsy useful in the diagnosis of giant cell arteritis? A randomized study. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2015 Mar;54(3):400–4.
- Deyholos C, Sytek MC, Smith S, Cardella J, Orion KC. Impact of Temporal Artery Biopsy on Clinical Management of Suspected Giant Cell Arteritis. Ann Vasc Surg. 2020 Nov;69:254–60.
- Aranda-Valera IC, García Carazo S, Monjo Henry I, De Miguel Mendieta E. Diagnostic validity of Doppler ultrasound in giant cell arteritis. Clin Exp Rheumatol. 2017 Apr;35 Suppl 103(1):123–7.
- 80. Mukhtyar C, Myers H, Scott DGI, Misra A, Jones C. Validating a diagnostic GCA ultrasonography service against temporal artery biopsy and long-term clinical outcomes. Clin Rheumatol. 2020 Apr;39(4):1325–9.
- 81. Roncato C, Allix-Béguec C, Brottier-Mancini E, Gombert B, Denis G. Diagnostic performance of colour duplex ultrasonography along with temporal artery biopsy in suspicion of giant cell arteritis. Clin Exp Rheumatol. 2017 Apr;35 Suppl 103(1):119–22.
- 82. Conway R, O'Neill L, McCarthy GM, Murphy CC, Veale DJ, Fearon U, et al. Performance characteristics and predictors of temporal artery ultrasound for the diagnosis of giant cell arteritis in routine clinical practice in a prospective cohort. Clin Exp Rheumatol. 2019 Apr;37 Suppl 117(2):72–8.
- 83. Gribbons KB, Ponte C, Craven A, Robson JC, Suppiah R, Luqmani R, et al. Diagnostic Assessment Strategies and Disease Subsets in Giant Cell Arteritis: Data From an International Observational Cohort. Arthritis Rheumatol. 2020 Apr;72(4):667–76.
- 84. van der Geest KSM, Borg F, Kayani A, Paap D, Gondo P, Schmidt W, et al. Novel ultrasonographic Halo Score for giant cell arteritis: assessment of diagnostic accuracy and association with ocular ischaemia. Ann Rheum Dis. 2020 Mar;79(3):393–9.
- 85. Diamantopoulos AP, Haugeberg G, Lindland A, Myklebust G. The fast-track ultrasound clinic for early diagnosis of giant cell arteritis significantly reduces permanent visual impairment: towards a more effective strategy to improve clinical outcome in giant cell arteritis? Rheumatology (Oxford). 2016 Jan;55(1):66–70.
- 86. Patil P, Williams M, Maw WW, Achilleos K, Elsideeg S, Dejaco C, et al. Fast track pathway reduces sight loss in giant cell arteritis: results of a longitudinal observational cohort study. Clin Exp Rheumatol. 2015 Apr;33(2 Suppl 89):S-103-106.

- 87. Laskou F, Coath F, Mackie SL, Banerjee S, Aung T, Dasgupta B. A probability score to aid the diagnosis of suspected giant cell arteritis. Clin Exp Rheumatol. 2019 Apr;37 Suppl 117(2):104–8.
- 88. Sebastian A, Tomelleri A, Kayani A, Prieto-Pena D, Ranasinghe C, Dasgupta B. Probability-based algorithm using ultrasound and additional tests for suspected GCA in a fast-track clinic. RMD Open. 2020 Sep;6(3):e001297.
- 89. Alberts M. Temporal arteritis: improving patient evaluation with a new protocol. Perm J. 2013;17(1):56–62.
- 90. Chrysidis S, Terslev L, Christensen R, Fredberg U, Larsen K, Lorenzen T, et al. Vascular ultrasound for the diagnosis of giant cell arteritis: a reliability and agreement study based on a standardised training programme. RMD Open. 2020 Sep;6(3):e001337.
- 91. Schäfer VS, Chrysidis S, Dejaco C, Duftner C, Iagnocco A, Bruyn GA, et al. Assessing Vasculitis in Giant Cell Arteritis by Ultrasound: Results of OMERACT Patient-based Reliability Exercises. J Rheumatol. 2018 Aug;45(9):1289–95.
- Roncato C, Perez L, Brochet-Guégan A, Allix-Béguec C, Raimbeau A, Gautier G, et al. Colour Doppler ultrasound of temporal arteries for the diagnosis of giant cell arteritis: a multicentre deep learning study. Clin Exp Rheumatol. 2020 Apr;38 Suppl 124(2):120– 5.
- 93. Brier R, Borg FA, Patil P, Dejaco C, Dasgupta B. SAT0287 Association between Temporal Artery Ultrasound "Halo Score" and Biopsy in Newly Diagnosed GIANT Cell Arteritis. Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases. 2014 Jun 1;73(Suppl 2):697–697.
- 94. Chattopadhyay A, Ghosh A. 'Halo Score': missing large-vessel giant cell arteritis— do we need a 'modified Halo Score'? Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases [Internet]. 2020 Jul 10 [cited 2021 Nov 9]; Available from: https://ard.bmj.com/content/early/2020/07/09/annrheumdis-2020-218224
- 95. Molina Collada J, Martínez-Barrio J, Serrano-Benavente B, Castrejón I, Nieto-González JC, Caballero Motta LR, et al. Subclavian artery involvement in patients with giant cell arteritis: do we need a modified Halo Score? Clin Rheumatol. 2021 Jul;40(7):2821–7.
- 96. Schinkel AFL, van den Oord SCH, van der Steen AFW, van Laar JAM, Sijbrands EJG. Utility of contrast-enhanced ultrasound for the assessment of the carotid artery wall in patients with Takayasu or giant cell arteritis. Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging. 2014 May;15(5):541–6.
- 97. Germanò G, Macchioni P, Possemato N, Boiardi L, Nicolini A, Casali M, et al. Contrast-Enhanced Ultrasound of the Carotid Artery in Patients With Large Vessel Vasculitis: Correlation With Positron Emission Tomography Findings. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2017 Jan;69(1):143–9.

- Figus FA, Skoczyńska M, McConnell R, Massazza G, Iagnocco A. Imaging in polymyalgia rheumatica: which technique to use? Clin Exp Rheumatol. 2021 Aug;39(4):883–8.
- 99. Camellino D, Duftner C, Dejaco C. New insights into the role of imaging in polymyalgia rheumatica. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2021 Mar 2;60(3):1016–33.
- 100. Bley TA, Reinhard M, Hauenstein C, Markl M, Warnatz K, Hetzel A, et al. Comparison of duplex sonography and high-resolution magnetic resonance imaging in the diagnosis of giant cell (temporal) arteritis. Arthritis Rheum. 2008 Aug;58(8):2574–8.
- 101. Muratore F, Pipitone N, Salvarani C, Schmidt WA. Imaging of vasculitis: State of the art. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol. 2016 Aug;30(4):688–706.
- Löffler C, Hoffend J, Benck U, Krämer BK, Bergner R. The value of ultrasound in diagnosing extracranial large-vessel vasculitis compared to FDG-PET/CT: A retrospective study. Clin Rheumatol. 2017 Sep;36(9):2079–86.
- 103. Imfeld S, Aschwanden M, Rottenburger C, Schegk E, Berger CT, Staub D, et al. [18F]FDG positron emission tomography and ultrasound in the diagnosis of giant cell arteritis: congruent or complementary imaging methods? Rheumatology (Oxford). 2020 Apr 1;59(4):772–8.
- Seifert P, Drescher R, Pfeil A, Freesmeyer M. Large-vessel vasculitis in positron emission tomography and ultrasound fusion imaging. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2017 Nov 1;56(11):1992.
- 105. Arnaud L, Haroche J, Toledano D, Cacoub P, Mathian A, Costedoat-Chalumeau N, et al. Cluster analysis of arterial involvement in Takayasu arteritis reveals symmetric extension of the lesions in paired arterial beds. Arthritis Rheum. 2011 Apr;63(4):1136–40.
- Schmidt WA. Ultrasound in vasculitis. Clin Exp Rheumatol. 2014 Feb;32(1 Suppl 80):S71-77.
- Matos KTF, Arantes T, Souza AWS, Ramos MHMC, Allemann N, Muccioli C. Retinal angiography and colour Doppler of retrobulbar vessels in Takayasu arteritis. Can J Ophthalmol. 2014 Feb;49(1):80–6.
- 108. Tombetti E, Mason JC. Application of imaging techniques for Takayasu arteritis. Presse Med. 2017 Aug;46(7-8 Pt 2):e215–23.
- 109. Lopez D, Guevara M. Use of Ultrasound in the Diagnosis and Management of the Vasculitides. Curr Rheumatol Rep. 2020 Jun 10;22(7):31.
- 110. Huang Y, Ma X, Li M, Dong H, Wan Y, Zhu J. Carotid contrast-enhanced ultrasonographic assessment of disease activity in Takayasu arteritis. Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging. 2019 Jul 1;20(7):789–95.

- Svensson C, Eriksson P, Zachrisson H. Vascular ultrasound for monitoring of inflammatory activity in Takayasu arteritis. Clin Physiol Funct Imaging. 2020 Jan;40(1):37–45.
- 112. Fan W, Zhu J, Li J, Zhang W, Li C. Ultrasound morphological changes in the carotid wall of Takayasu's arteritis: monitor of disease progression. Int Angiol. 2016 Dec;35(6):586–92.
- 113. Alibaz-Oner F, Yurdakul S, Aytekin S, Direskeneli H. Impaired endothelial function in patients with Takayasu's arteritis. Acta Cardiol. 2014 Feb;69(1):45–9.
- 114. Barreira SC, Melo AT, Ponte C, Khmelinskii N. Macaroni sign and carotid occlusion in Takayasu's arteritis. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2021 Apr 6;60(4):2029–30.
- 115. Germanò G, Macchioni P, Possemato N, Boiardi L, Nicolini A, Casali M, et al. Contrast-Enhanced Ultrasound of the Carotid Artery in Patients With Large Vessel Vasculitis: Correlation With Positron Emission Tomography Findings. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2017 Jan;69(1):143–9.
- 116. Wang Y, Wang Y-H, Tian X-P, Wang H-Y, Li J, Ge Z-T, et al. Contrast-enhanced ultrasound for evaluating arteritis activity in Takayasu arteritis patients. Clin Rheumatol. 2020 Apr;39(4):1229–35.
- 117. Ma L-Y, Li C-L, Ma L-L, Cui X-M, Dai X-M, Sun Y, et al. Value of contrast-enhanced ultrasonography of the carotid artery for evaluating disease activity in Takayasu arteritis. Arthritis Res Ther. 2019 Jan 16;21(1):24.
- Li Z, Zheng Z, Ding J, Li X, Zhao Y, Kang F, et al. Contrast-enhanced Ultrasonography for Monitoring Arterial Inflammation in Takayasu Arteritis. J Rheumatol. 2019 Jun;46(6):616–22.
- 119. Ma L-Y, Li C-L, Chen R-Y, Dai X-M, Ji Z-F, Chen H-Y, et al. The value of ultrasonography combined with clinical features for predicting carotid imaging progression of Takayasu's arteritis: a prospective cohort study. Clin Exp Rheumatol. 2021 Apr;39 Suppl 129(2):101–6.
- 120. Lottspeich C, Dechant C, Köhler A, Tischler M, Treitl KM, Treitl M, et al. Assessment of Disease Activity in Takayasu Arteritis: Potential Role of Contrast-Enhanced Ultrasound. Ultraschall Med. 2019 Oct;40(5):638–45.
- 121. Sato W, Sato T, Iino T, Seki K, Watanabe H. Visualization of arterial wall vascularization using superb microvascular imaging in active-stage Takayasu arteritis. Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging. 2019 Jun 1;20(6):719.
- 122. Sinha D, Mondal S, Nag A, Ghosh A. Development of a colour Doppler ultrasound scoring system in patients of Takayasu's arteritis and its correlation with clinical activity score (ITAS 2010). Rheumatology (Oxford). 2013 Dec;52(12):2196–202.

- 123. Li J, Shi D, Wei Y, Xiao J, Zhang K, Wang M. Blood flow in the internal carotid artery with common carotid artery-occluding lesions in Takayasu arteritis. J Ultrasound Med. 2010 Nov;29(11):1547–53.
- 124. Wang J, Lee YZ, Cheng Y, Zheng Y, Gao J, Tang X, et al. Sonographic Characterization of Arterial Dissections in Takayasu Arteritis. J Ultrasound Med. 2016 Jun;35(6):1177–91.
- 125. Vilcarromero Arbulú G, Miranda Noe D, Rebaza Miyazato P. Chronic total occlusion of abdominal aorta due to Takayasu's arteritis: a noteworthy finding. Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging. 2015 Oct;16(10):1128.
- 126. Nishigami K. Role of cardiovascular echo in patients with Takayasu arteritis. J Echocardiogr. 2014 Dec;12(4):138–41.
- 127. Cordeiro F, Carvalho SS, Salvador F, Ferreira A, Moreira JI. Takayasu Arteritis: From Diagnosis to a Life-Threatening Complication. Arq Bras Cardiol. 2018 Oct;111(4):638–9.
- 128. Ren Y, Du J, Guo X, Liu O, Liu W, Qi G, et al. Cardiac valvular involvement of Takayasu arteritis. Clin Rheumatol. 2021 Feb;40(2):653–60.
- 129. Zhang Y, Yang K, Meng X, Tian T, Fan P, Zhang H, et al. Cardiac Valve Involvement in Takayasu Arteritis Is Common: A Retrospective Study of 1,069 Patients Over 25 Years. Am J Med Sci. 2018 Oct;356(4):357–64.
- Brennan DN, Warrington KJ, Crowson CS, Schmidt J, Koster MJ. Cardiopulmonary involvement in Takayasu's arteritis. Clin Exp Rheumatol. 2018 Apr;36 Suppl 111(2):46–50.
- Jiang W, Yang Y, Lv X, Li Y, Ma Z, Li J. Echocardiographic characteristics of pulmonary artery involvement in Takayasu arteritis. Echocardiography. 2017 Mar;34(3):340– 7.
- 132. Hamzaoui A, Salem R, Klii R, Harzallah O, Berriche O, Golli M, et al. Pericarditis as an initial symptom in Takayasu arteritis. Anadolu Kardiyol Derg. 2011 Jun;11(4):375–6.
- Horáková L, Pudil R, Hrncír Z, Vizd'a J. Cardiomyopathy as one of the less frequent manifestations of Takayasu's arteritis. Acta Medica (Hradec Kralove). 2011;54(4):167– 9.
- 134. Kim G-B, Kwon BS, Bae EJ, Noh CI. Takayasu arteritis presenting as dilated cardiomyopathy with left ventricular thrombus in association with ulcerative colitis. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2012 Oct 2;60(14):e25.
- 135. Dwivedi SK, Kharwar RB, Mehrotra A, Saran M, Chandra S, Saran RK. Dilated cardiomyopathy with inferior wall myocardial infarction: a rare presentation of Takayasu arteritis. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2014 Apr 22;63(15):e35.

- 136. Wang Y-J, Ma L-L, Liu Y, Yan Y, Sun Y, Wang Y-S, et al. Risk assessment model for heart failure in Chinese patients with Takayasu's arteritis. Clin Rheumatol. 2021 Oct;40(10):4117–26.
- 137. Shimizu T, Sato A, Sakamoto K, Seino Y, Kijima M, Matsumoto T, et al. Intravascular ultrasound imaging of isolated and non aorto-ostial coronary Takayasu arteritis: a case report. BMC Cardiovasc Disord. 2020 Jun 1;20(1):260.
- 138. Shibata N, Taniguchi T, Umemoto N, Shimizu K, Murohara T. Multimodality findings of coronary stenosis and aneurysm in Takayasu arteritis: a case report. Coron Artery Dis. 2019 Nov;30(7):551–2.
- 139. Gupta A, Singh S, Gupta A, Suri D, Rohit M. Aortic stiffness studies in children with Kawasaki disease: preliminary results from a follow-up study from North India. Rheumatol Int. 2014 Oct;34(10):1427–32.
- 140. Christiansen ME, O'Carroll CB, Kumar G, Larsen BT, Dumitrascu OM. Transcranial Doppler Evaluation in Takayasu Arteritis With Oculo-Cerebrovascular Complications. Neurologist. 2019 Jan;24(1):17–21.
- 141. Hidaka N, Yamanaka Y, Fujita Y, Fukushima K, Wake N. Clinical manifestations of pregnancy in patients with Takayasu arteritis: experience from a single tertiary center. Arch Gynecol Obstet. 2012 Feb;285(2):377–85.
- 142. Bharuthram N, Tikly M. Pregnancy and Takayasu arteritis: case-based review. Rheumatol Int. 2020 May;40(5):799–809.
- 143. Zhu FP, Luo S, Wang ZJ, Jin ZY, Zhang LJ, Lu GM. Takayasu arteritis: imaging spectrum at multidetector CT angiography. Br J Radiol. 2012 Dec;85(1020):e1282-1292.
- 144. Seyahi E, Ucgul A, Cebi Olgun D, Ugurlu S, Akman C, Tutar O, et al. Aortic and coronary calcifications in Takayasu arteritis. Semin Arthritis Rheum. 2013 Aug;43(1):96– 104.
- 145. Janes ALF, Castro MF, Arraes AED, Savioli B, Sato EI, de Souza AWS. A retrospective cohort study to assess PET-CT findings and clinical outcomes in Takayasu arteritis: does 18F-fluorodeoxyglucose uptake in arteries predict relapses? Rheumatol Int. 2020 Jul;40(7):1123–31.
- 146. Noto N, Komori A, Ayusawa M, Takahashi S. Recent updates on echocardiography and ultrasound for Kawasaki disease: beyond the coronary artery. Cardiovasc Diagn Ther. 2018 Feb;8(1):80–9.
- 147. McCrindle BW, Rowley AH, Newburger JW, Burns JC, Bolger AF, Gewitz M, et al. Diagnosis, Treatment, and Long-Term Management of Kawasaki Disease: A Scientific Statement for Health Professionals From the American Heart Association. Circulation. 2017 Apr 25;135(17):e927–99.

- Jindal AK, Pilania RK, Prithvi A, Guleria S, Singh S. Kawasaki disease: characteristics, diagnosis, and unusual presentations. Expert Rev Clin Immunol. 2019 Oct;15(10):1089–104.
- 149. Liu HH, Qiu Z, Fan GZ, Jiang Q, Li RX, Chen WX, et al. Assessment of coronary artery abnormalities and variability of Z-score calculation in the acute episode of Kawasaki disease-A retrospective study from China. Eur J Clin Invest. 2021 Mar;51(3):e13409.
- 150. Singh S, Jindal AK, Pilania RK. Diagnosis of Kawasaki disease. Int J Rheum Dis. 2018 Jan;21(1):36–44.
- 151. Shenoy B, Singh S, Ahmed MZ, Pal P, Balan S, Viswanathan V, et al. Indian Academy of Pediatrics Position Paper on Kawasaki Disease. Indian Pediatr. 2020 Nov 15;57(11):1040–8.
- 152. Chbeir D, Gaschignard J, Bonnefoy R, Beyler C, Melki I, Faye A, et al. Kawasaki disease: abnormal initial echocardiogram is associated with resistance to IV Ig and development of coronary artery lesions. Pediatr Rheumatol Online J. 2018 Jul 18;16(1):48.
- 153. Tsuda E, Hashimoto S. Time Course of Coronary Artery Aneurysms in Kawasaki Disease. J Pediatr. 2021 Mar;230:133-139.e2.
- 154. Tsuda E, Singhal M. Role of imaging studies in Kawasaki disease. Int J Rheum Dis. 2018 Jan;21(1):56–63.
- 155. Hörl M, Michel H, Döring S, Dechant M-J, Zeman F, Melter M, et al. Value of serial echocardiography in diagnosing Kawasaki's disease. Eur J Pediatr. 2021 Feb;180(2):387–95.
- 156. Satoh K, Wakejima Y, Gau M, Kiguchi T, Matsuda N, Takasawa R, et al. Risk of coronary artery lesions in young infants with Kawasaki disease: need for a new diagnostic method. Int J Rheum Dis. 2018 Mar;21(3):746–54.
- 157. Cameron SA, Robinson JD, Carr MR, Patel A. Giant coronary artery aneurysms in an infant with Kawasaki disease: Evaluation by echocardiography and computed tomographic angiography. Echocardiography. 2018 Oct;35(10):1692–4.
- 158. Hashimoto I, Saitou Y, Sakata N, Shibata K. Evaluation of longitudinal and radial left ventricular functions on 2-D and 3-D echocardiography before and after intravenous immunoglobulin in acute Kawasaki disease. Pediatr Int. 2017 Dec;59(12):1229–35.
- 159. Kang SJ, Kwon YW, Hwang SJ, Kim HJ, Jin BK, Yon DK. Clinical Utility of Left Atrial Strain in Children in the Acute Phase of Kawasaki Disease. J Am Soc Echocardiogr. 2018 Mar;31(3):323–32.
- 160. Lee H, Shin J, Eun L. Myocardial Assessment in School-Aged Children with Past Kawasaki Disease. J Korean Med Sci. 2017 Nov;32(11):1835–9.

- 161. Yu Y, Sun K, Xue H, Chen S, Yang J. Usefulness of real-time 3-dimensional echocardiography to identify and quantify left ventricular dyssynchrony in patients with Kawasaki disease. J Ultrasound Med. 2013 Jun;32(6):1013–21.
- 162. McCandless RT, Minich LL, Wilkinson SE, McFadden ML, Tani LY, Menon SC. Myocardial strain and strain rate in Kawasaki disease. Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging. 2013 Nov;14(11):1061–8.
- 163. Ajami G, Borzouee M, Amoozgar H, Ashnaee F, Kashef S, Nesar MS, et al. Evaluation of myocardial function using the Tei index in patients with Kawasaki disease. Cardiol Young. 2010 Feb;20(1):44–8.
- 164. Geyer H, Caracciolo G, Abe H, Wilansky S, Carerj S, Gentile F, et al. Assessment of myocardial mechanics using speckle tracking echocardiography: fundamentals and clinical applications. J Am Soc Echocardiogr. 2010 Apr;23(4):351–69; quiz 453–5.
- 165. Dedeoglu R, Barut K, Oztunc F, Atik S, Adrovic A, Sahin S, et al. Evaluation of myocardial deformation in patients with Kawasaki disease using speckle-tracking echocardiography during mid-term follow-up. Cardiol Young. 2017 Sep;27(7):1377–85.
- 166. Hematian M-N, Torabi S, MalaKan-Rad E, Sayadpour-Zanjani K, Ziaee V, Lotfi-Tolkaldany M. Noninvasive Evaluation of Myocardial Systolic Dysfunction in the Early Stage of Kawasaki Disease: A Speckle-Tracking Echocardiography Study. Iran J Pediatr. 2015 Jun;25(3):e198.
- 167. Yu JJ, Choi HS, Kim YB, Son JS, Kim Y-H, Ko J-K, et al. Analyses of left ventricular myocardial deformation by speckle-tracking imaging during the acute phase of Kawasaki disease. Pediatr Cardiol. 2010 Aug;31(6):807–12.
- 168. Yu W, Wong SJ, Cheung Y. Left ventricular mechanics in adolescents and young adults with a history of kawasaki disease: analysis by three-dimensional speckle tracking echocardiography. Echocardiography. 2014 Apr;31(4):483–91.
- 169. Eun LY, Kim JH, Jung JW, Choi JY. Myocardial Layers Specific Strain Analysis for the Acute Phase of Infant Kawasaki Disease. Pediatr Cardiol. 2016 Dec;37(8):1404–8.
- Lin Z, Zheng J, Chen W, Ding T, Yu W, Xia B. Assessing left ventricular systolic function in children with a history of Kawasaki disease. BMC Cardiovasc Disord. 2020 Mar 12;20(1):131.
- 171. Sanchez AA, Sexson Tejtel SK, Almeida-Jones ME, Feagin DK, Altman CA, Pignatelli RH. Comprehensive left ventricular myocardial deformation assessment in children with Kawasaki disease. Congenit Heart Dis. 2019 Nov;14(6):1024–31.
- 172. Xu Q-Q, Ding Y-Y, Lv H-T, Zhou W-P, Sun L, Huang J, et al. Evaluation of left ventricular systolic strain in children with Kawasaki disease. Pediatr Cardiol. 2014 Oct;35(7):1191–7.

- 173. Wang H, Song Y, Mu J, Shang J, Wang J, Ruan L. Left ventricular systolic dyssynchrony in patients with Kawasaki disease: a real-time three-dimensional echocardiography study. Int J Cardiovasc Imaging. 2020 Oct;36(10):1941–51.
- 174. Wang H, Shang J, Tong M, Song Y, Ruan L. Evaluation of left ventricular function in immunoglobulin-resistant children with Kawasaki disease: a two-dimensional speckle tracking echocardiography study. Clin Cardiol. 2019 Aug;42(8):753–9.
- 175. Selamet Tierney ES, Newburger JW, Graham D, Baker A, Fulton DR, Colan SD. Diastolic function in children with Kawasaki disease. Int J Cardiol. 2011 May 5;148(3):309–12.
- 176. Numano F, Shimizu C, Tremoulet AH, Dyar D, Burns JC, Printz BF. Pulmonary Artery Dilation and Right Ventricular Function in Acute Kawasaki Disease. Pediatr Cardiol. 2016 Mar;37(3):482–90.
- 177. Phadke D, Patel SS, Dominguez SR, Heizer H, Anderson MS, Glode MP, et al. Tissue Doppler Imaging as a Predictor of Immunoglobulin Resistance in Kawasaki Disease. Pediatr Cardiol. 2015 Dec;36(8):1618–23.
- 178. Azak E, Cetin II, Gursu HA, Kibar AE, Surucu M, Orgun A, et al. Recovery of myocardial mechanics in Kawasaki disease demonstrated by speckle tracking and tissue Doppler methods. Echocardiography. 2018 Mar;35(3):380–7.
- 179. Xie L, Wang R, Huang M, Zhang Y, Shen J, Xiao T. Quantitative evaluation of myocardial fibrosis by cardiac integrated backscatter analysis in Kawasaki disease. Cardiovasc Ultrasound. 2016 Jan 12;14:3.
- Leonardi B, Giglio V, Sanders SP, Pasceri V, De Zorzi A. Ultrasound tissue characterization of the myocardium in patients after Kawasaki disease. Pediatr Cardiol. 2010 Aug;31(6):766–72.
- 181. Nagata H, Yamamura K, Uike K, Nakashima Y, Hirata Y, Morihana E, et al. Evaluation of echogenicity of the heart in Kawasaki disease. Eur J Pediatr. 2014 Aug;173(8):1089–93.
- 182. Abe O, Karasawa K, Hirano M, Miyashita M, Taniguchi K, Ayusawa M, et al. Quantitative evaluation of coronary artery wall echogenicity by integrated backscatter analysis in Kawasaki disease. J Am Soc Echocardiogr. 2010 Sep;23(9):938–42.
- 183. Yu JJ, Jang W-S, Ko HK, Han M-K, Kim Y-H, Ko J-K, et al. Perivascular brightness of coronary arteries in Kawasaki disease. J Pediatr. 2011 Sep;159(3):454-457.e1.
- 184. Rabinowitz EJ, Rubin LG, Desai K, Hayes DA, Tugertimur A, Kwon EN, et al. Examining the Utility of Coronary Artery Lack of Tapering and Perivascular Brightness in Incomplete Kawasaki Disease. Pediatr Cardiol. 2019 Jan;40(1):147–53.
- 185. Son MBF, Gauvreau K, Kim S, Tang A, Dedeoglu F, Fulton DR, et al. Predicting Coronary Artery Aneurysms in Kawasaki Disease at a North American Center: An Assessment of Baseline z Scores. J Am Heart Assoc. 2017 May 31;6(6):e005378.

- 186. Liu M-Y, Liu H-M, Wu C-H, Chang C-H, Huang G-J, Chen C-A, et al. Risk factors and implications of progressive coronary dilatation in children with Kawasaki disease. BMC Pediatr. 2017 Jun 6;17(1):139.
- 187. McCrindle BW, Cifra B. The role of echocardiography in Kawasaki disease. Int J Rheum Dis. 2018 Jan;21(1):50–5.
- 188. Noto N, Kamiyama H, Karasawa K, Ayusawa M, Sumitomo N, Okada T, et al. Longterm prognostic impact of dobutamine stress echocardiography in patients with Kawasaki disease and coronary artery lesions: a 15-year follow-up study. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2014 Feb 4;63(4):337–44.
- 189. Watanabe M, Fukazawa R, Ogawa S, Ohkubo T, Abe M, Hashimoto K, et al. Virtual histology intravascular ultrasound evaluation of coronary artery lesions within 1 year and more than 10 years after the onset of Kawasaki disease. J Cardiol. 2020 Feb;75(2):171–6.
- Vaujois L, Dallaire F, Maurice RL, Fournier A, Houde C, Thérien J, et al. The biophysical properties of the aorta are altered following Kawasaki disease. J Am Soc Echocardiogr. 2013 Dec;26(12):1388–96.
- 191. AlHuzaimi A, Al Mashham Y, Potts JE, De Souza AM, Sandor GGS. Echo-Doppler assessment of arterial stiffness in pediatric patients with Kawasaki disease. J Am Soc Echocardiogr. 2013 Sep;26(9):1084–9.
- 192. Oyamada J, Toyono M, Shimada S, Aoki-Okazaki M, Takahashi T. Altered central aortic elastic properties in Kawasaki disease are related to changes in left ventricular geometry and coronary artery aneurysm formation. J Am Soc Echocardiogr. 2012 Jun;25(6):690–6.
- Maurice RL, Dahdah N. Characterization of aortic remodeling following Kawasaki disease: toward a fully developed automatic biparametric model. Med Phys. 2012 Oct;39(10):6104–10.
- 194. Nandlall I, Maurice RL, Fournier A, Merouani A, Dahdah N. Ascending Aorta Elastography After Kawasaki Disease Compared to Systemic Hypertension. Pediatr Cardiol. 2015 Oct;36(7):1417–22.
- 195. Giacchi V, Sciacca P, Stella I, Filippelli M, Barone P, La Rosa M, et al. Assessment of coronary artery intimal thickening in patients with a previous diagnosis of Kawasaki disease by using high resolution transthoracic echocardiography: our experience. BMC Cardiovasc Disord. 2014 Aug 20;14:106.
- 196. Wu T-H, Kuo H-C, Tain Y-L, Lin K-M, Kuo H-C, Chien S-J. Common carotid artery intima-media thickness is useful for diagnosis of the acute stage of Kawasaki disease. BMC Pediatr. 2014 Apr 10;14:98.
- 197. Gopalan K, Singh S, Vignesh P, Gupta A, Rohit M, Attri SV. Carotid Intima-Media Thickness and Lipid Profile in Children With Kawasaki Disease: A Single-Center Fol-

low-up Study After a Mean Duration of 6.9 Years. J Clin Rheumatol. 2018 Oct;24(7):385–9.

- 198. Chen KY, Zannino D, Curtis N, Cheung M, Burgner D. Increased aortic intima-media thickness following Kawasaki disease. Atherosclerosis. 2017 May;260:75–80.
- 199. Dietz SM, Tacke CE, de Groot E, Kuipers IM, Hutten BA, Kuijpers TW, et al. Extracardial Vasculopathy After Kawasaki Disease: A Long-Term Follow-up Study. J Am Heart Assoc. 2016 Jul 5;5(7):e003414.
- Pinto FF, Gomes I, Loureiro P, Laranjo S, Timóteo AT, Carmo MM. Vascular function long term after Kawasaki disease: another piece of the puzzle? Cardiol Young. 2017 Apr;27(3):488–97.
- 201. Parihar M, Singh S, Vignesh P, Gupta A, Rohit M. Mid-term Risk for Subclinical Atherosclerosis and Chronic Myocarditis in Children with Kawasaki Disease and Transient Coronary Abnormalities. Pediatr Cardiol. 2017 Aug;38(6):1123–32.
- 202. Dietz SM, Tacke CEA, Hutten BA, Kuijpers TW. Peripheral Endothelial (Dys)Function, Arterial Stiffness and Carotid Intima-Media Thickness in Patients after Kawasaki Disease: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analyses. PLoS One. 2015;10(7):e0130913.
- 203. Zeng Y-Y, Chen F, Zhang Y, Ji X. Are patients recovering from Kawasaki disease at increased risk for accelerated atherosclerosis? A meta-analysis. World J Pediatr. 2021 Oct;17(5):476–83.
- 204. Oguri M, Nakamura T, Tamanuki K, Akita C, Kitaoka C, Saikawa Y, et al. Subclinical arterial stiffness in young children after Kawasaki disease. Cardiol Young. 2014 Feb;24(1):87–94.
- 205. Shah V, Christov G, Mukasa T, Brogan KS, Wade A, Eleftheriou D, et al. Cardiovascular status after Kawasaki disease in the UK. Heart. 2015 Oct;101(20):1646–55.
- 206. Dietz SM, Tacke CE, Kuipers IM, Wiegman A, de Winter RJ, Burns JC, et al. Cardiovascular imaging in children and adults following Kawasaki disease. Insights Imaging. 2015 Dec 1;6(6):697–705.
- 207. Laurito M, Stazi A, Delogu AB, Milo M, Battipaglia I, Scalone G, et al. Endothelial and platelet function in children with previous Kawasaki disease. Angiology. 2014 Sep;65(8):716–22.
- 208. Ishikawa T, Iwashima S. Endothelial dysfunction in children within 5 years after onset of Kawasaki disease. J Pediatr. 2013 Oct;163(4):1117–21.
- 209. Noto N, Okada T, Abe Y, Miyashita M, Kanamaru H, Karasawa K, et al. Characteristics of earlier atherosclerotic involvement in adolescent patients with Kawasaki disease and coronary artery lesions: significance of gray scale median on B-mode ultrasound. Atherosclerosis. 2012 May;222(1):106–9.

- 210. Katayama H. Analysis of Arterial Endothelial Function Assessed by the Non-invasive Method of Flow-Mediated Dilatation in Patients with a History of Kawasaki Disease: A Review of the Literature. Pediatric Infectious Diseases: Open Access [Internet]. 2016 May 17 [cited 2021 Oct 29];1(2). Available from: https://pediatric-infectiousdisease.imedpub.com/abstract/analysis-of-arterial-endothelial-function-assessed-bythe-noninvasive-method-of-flowmediated-dilatation-in-patients-with-a-history-ofkawasaki-disease-a-review-of-the-literature-9309.html
- 211. Mori Y, Katayama H, Kishi K, Ozaki N, Shimizu T, Tamai H. Persistent high fever for more than 10 days during acute phase is a risk factor for endothelial dysfunction in children with a history of Kawasaki disease. J Cardiol. 2016 Jul;68(1):71–5.
- 212. Chen C-J, Huang F-C, Tiao M-M, Huang Y-H, Lin L-Y, Yu H-R, et al. Sonographic gallbladder abnormality is associated with intravenous immunoglobulin resistance in Kawasaki disease. ScientificWorldJournal. 2012;2012:485758.
- 213. Qin Q, Wang D, Xu L, Lan Y, Tong M. Evaluating Lymph Node Stiffness to Differentiate Bacterial Cervical Lymphadenitis and Lymph Node-First Presentation of Kawasaki Disease by Shear Wave Elastography. J Ultrasound Med. 2021 Jul;40(7):1371–80.
- 214. Nozaki T, Morita Y, Hasegawa D, Makidono A, Yoshimoto Y, Starkey J, et al. Cervical ultrasound and computed tomography of Kawasaki disease: Comparison with lymphadenitis. Pediatr Int. 2016 Nov;58(11):1146–52.
- 215. van Stijn-Bringas Dimitriades D, Planken RN, Groenink M, Streekstra GJ, Kuijpers TW, Kuipers IM. Coronary artery assessment in Kawasaki disease with dual-source CT angiography to uncover vascular pathology. Eur Radiol. 2020 Jan;30(1):432–41.
- 216. Özçakar ZB, Fitöz S, Yıldız AE, Yalçınkaya F. Childhood polyarteritis nodosa: diagnosis with non-invasive imaging techniques. Clin Rheumatol. 2017 Jan;36(1):165–71.
- 217. Hernández-Rodríguez J, Alba MA, Prieto-González S, Cid MC. Diagnosis and classification of polyarteritis nodosa. J Autoimmun. 2014 Mar;48–49:84–9.
- 218. Wang H, Li J, Jiang Y, Dai Q, Jiang Y, Hou Y, et al. Polyarteritis nodosa with multiple aneurysms and renal arteriovenous fistula successfully diagnosed by colour Doppler sonography. Clin Rheumatol. 2013 Mar;32 Suppl 1:S89-92.
- David J, Rücklova K, Urbanova V, Dolezalova P. Case Report: Unexpected Benefit of Echocardiography in Childhood Polyarteritis Nodosa. Klin Padiatr. 2019 Mar;231(2):96–8.
- 220. Paricaud K, Pugnet G, Moulis G, Arlet P, Astudillo L, Sailler L. Digital necrosis revealing localized polyarteritis nodosa. Scand J Rheumatol. 2017 Nov;46(6):498–9.
- 221. Micheroli R, Distler O. Polyarteritis nodosa. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2018 Apr 1;57(4):670.

- 222. Sacks CA, Kilcoyne A, Wallace ZS, Glomski K. Case 20-2018: A 64-Year-Old Man with Fever, Arthralgias, and Testicular Pain. N Engl J Med. 2018 Jun 28;378(26):2518–29.
- 223. Garg K, Dawson L. Single organ variant of polyarteritis nodosa in epididymis. J Cancer Res Ther. 2015 Sep;11(3):662.
- 224. Kara M, Ozçakar L. Ultrasonographic imaging of the sciatic nerves in a patient with polyarteritis nodosa. Rheumatol Int. 2012 Oct;32(10):3327–8.
- 225. Fagart A, Machet T, Collet G, Quéméneur T, Ben Ticha R, Verstraete M, et al. FDG/PET-CT findings in a first series of 10 patients with polyarteritis nodosa. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2021 Jul 24;keab591.
- 226. Shimizu M, Inoue N, Mizuta M, Ikawa Y, Yachie A. Leopard skin appearance of cutaneous polyarteritis nodosa on 18Ffluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography. Rheumatology. 2016 Jun 1;55(6):1090.
- 227. Bossone E, Pluchinotta FR, Andreas M, Blanc P, Citro R, Limongelli G, et al. Aortitis. Vascul Pharmacol. 2016 May;80:1–10.
- 228. Hazebroek MR, Kemna MJ, Schalla S, Sanders-van Wijk S, Gerretsen SC, Dennert R, et al. Prevalence and prognostic relevance of cardiac involvement in ANCA-associated vasculitis: eosinophilic granulomatosis with polyangiitis and granulomatosis with polyangiitis. Int J Cardiol. 2015 Nov 15;199:170–9.
- 229. Ahn SS, Park ES, Jung SM, Song JJ, Park Y-B, Lee S-W. Echocardiographic features in patients with ANCA-associated vasculitis within 3 months before and after diagnosis. Clin Rheumatol. 2017 Dec;36(12):2751–9.
- 230. Miszalski-Jamka T, Szczeklik W, Nycz K, Sokołowska B, Górka J, Bury K, et al. Twodimensional speckle-tracking echocardiography reveals systolic abnormalities in granulomatosis with polyangiitis (Wegener's). Echocardiography. 2012 Aug;29(7):803–9.
- 231. Qiao L, Gao D. A case report and literature review of Churg-Strauss syndrome presenting with myocarditis. Medicine (Baltimore). 2016 Dec;95(51):e5080.
- 232. Matsuda S, Yoshida S, Fujiki Y, Satomi H, Takeuchi T, Hirose Y, et al. Eosinophilic granulomatosis with polyangiitis complicated by subarachnoid hemorrhage and coronary vasculitis: a case report and review of the literature. Rheumatol Int. 2018 Apr;38(4):689–96.
- 233. Bloom JL, Darst JR, Prok L, Soep JB. A case of Henoch-Schonlein Purpura with dilated coronary arteries. Pediatr Rheumatol Online J. 2018 Sep 4;16(1):54.
- 234. Mank V, Arter Z, Eum K, Mignano S, Cho S. IgA vasculitis presenting as recurrent hemopericardium. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2021 Feb 1;60(2):993–4.

- 235. Abissegue Y, Lyazidi Y, Arache W, Ouldsalek E, Chtata HT, Taberkant M. Multiple Visceral Artery Aneurysms: An Uncommon Manifestation of Antineutrophil Cytoplasmic Antibody Vasculitis. Ann Vasc Surg. 2016 Jul;34:271.e9-271.e13.
- 236. Borowiec A, Hadzik-Błaszczyk M, Kowalik I, Rusinowicz T, Krupa R, Jankowski J, et al. High incidence of venous thromboembolism but not of coronary artery disease in granulomatosis with polyangiitis in first years after diagnosis. Sarcoidosis Vasc Diffuse Lung Dis. 2019;36(3):202–8.
- 237. De Maddi F, Sottile R, Andreozzi L, Rigante D. Deep thrombophlebitis masked by peripheral arthritis in Henoch-Schönlein purpura. Int J Rheum Dis. 2016 Dec;19(12):1357–8.
- 238. D'Hauwe R, Lerut E, Breysem L, Smet M. A rare presentation of renal Wegener granulomatosis in a child. Pediatr Radiol. 2011 Sep;41(9):1212–5.
- 239. Doganay S, Kocakoc E, Balaban M. Nontraumatic hepatic hematoma caused by Wegener's granulomatosis: an unusual cause of abdominal pain. N Z Med J. 2010 Jul 16;123(1318):73–8.
- 240. Iida T, Adachi T, Tabeya T, Nakagaki S, Yabana T, Goto A, et al. Rare type of pancreatitis as the first presentation of anti-neutrophil cytoplasmic antibody-related vasculitis. World J Gastroenterol. 2016 Feb 21;22(7):2383–90.
- 241. Buda N, Masiak A, Zdrojewski Z. Utility of lung ultrasound in ANCA-associated vasculitis with lung involvement. PLoS One. 2019;14(9):e0222189.
- 242. Lluch J, Montserrat Pérez-Tapia L, Taco-Sánchez MDR, Narváez J. Breast involvement in granulomatosis with polyangiitis. Joint Bone Spine. 2019 Mar;86(2):263–4.
- 243. Buscatti IM, Abrão HM, Kozu K, Marques VLS, Gomes RC, Sallum AME, et al. Characterization of scrotal involvement in children and adolescents with IgA vasculitis. Adv Rheumatol. 2018 Nov 3;58(1):38.
- 244. Sharma V, Sethi SK, Raina R, Bansal S, Baijal SS, Kher V. A boy with IgA vasculitis and anuria: Answers. Pediatr Nephrol. 2020 Mar;35(3):401–2.
- 245. Hryhorczuk AL, Lee EY. Imaging evaluation of bowel obstruction in children: updates in imaging techniques and review of imaging findings. Semin Roentgenol. 2012 Apr;47(2):159–70.
- 246. Zhao L, Zheng S, Ma X, Yan W. Henoch-Schönlein Purpura With Testicular Necrosis: Sonographic Findings at the Onset, During Treatment, and at Follow-up. Urology. 2017 Sep;107:223–5.
- 247. Fei Y, Li X, Lin S, Song X, Wu Q, Zhu Y, et al. Major vascular involvement in Behçet's disease: a retrospective study of 796 patients. Clin Rheumatol. 2013 Jun;32(6):845–52.
- 248. Seyahi E, Cakmak OS, Tutar B, Arslan C, Dikici AS, Sut N, et al. Clinical and Ultrasonographic Evaluation of Lower-extremity Vein Thrombosis in Behcet Syndrome: An Observational Study. Medicine (Baltimore). 2015 Nov;94(44):e1899.
- 249. Seyahi E, Gjoni M, Durmaz EŞ, Akbaş S, Sut N, Dikici AS, et al. Increased vein wall thickness in Behçet disease. J Vasc Surg Venous Lymphat Disord. 2019 Sep;7(5):677-684.e2.
- 250. Alibaz-Oner F, Ergelen R, Mutis A, Erturk Z, Asadov R, Mumcu G, et al. Venous vessel wall thickness in lower extremity is increased in male patients with Behcet's disease. Clin Rheumatol. 2019 May;38(5):1447–51.
- 251. Alibaz-Oner F, Ergelen R, Yıldız Y, Aldag M, Yazici A, Cefle A, et al. Femoral vein wall thickness measurement: A new diagnostic tool for Behçet's disease. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2021 Jan 5;60(1):288–96.
- 252. Ozguler Y, Hatemi G, Cetinkaya F, Tascilar K, Hamuryudan V, Ugurlu S, et al. Clinical course of acute deep vein thrombosis of the legs in Behçet's syndrome. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2020 Apr 1;59(4):799–806.
- 253. Alibaz-Oner F, Karatay E, Akpinar IN, Ergun T, Direskeneli H. Evaluation of asymptomatic venous disease by venous Doppler ultrasonography in patients with Behcet's disease without overt thrombosis. Clin Rheumatol. 2014 Feb;33(2):277–80.
- 254. Kisacik B, Oren C, Kasifoglu T, Yilmaz S, Yilmaz O, Simsek I, et al. Investigation of the veins in patients with Behçet's disease with no known vascular event by Doppler ultrasonography. Rheumatol Int. 2012 Feb;32(2):303–6.
- 255. Tuzun H, Seyahi E, Arslan C, Hamuryudan V, Besirli K, Yazici H. Management and prognosis of nonpulmonary large arterial disease in patients with Behçet disease. J Vasc Surg. 2012 Jan;55(1):157–63.
- 256. Cho SB, Kim T, Cho S, Shim W-H, Yang MS, Bang D. Major arterial aneurysms and pseudoaneurysms in Behçet's disease: results from a single centre. Scand J Rheumatol. 2011 Jan;40(1):64–7.
- Ozisler C, Kaplanoglu H. Evaluation of subclinical atherosclerosis by ultrasound radiofrequency data technology in patients with Behçet's disease. Int J Rheum Dis. 2019 May;22(5):781–8.
- 258. Yıldırım A, Karakaş MS, Kılınç AY, Altekin RE, Yalçınkaya AS. Evaluation of arterial stiffness and subclinical atherosclerosis in patients with Behçet's disease without cardiovascular involvement. Turk Kardiyol Dern Ars. 2016 Oct;44(7):575–81.
- 259. Kankilic N, Aslan A, Karahan O, Demirtas S, Caliskan A, Yavuz C. Investigation of the arterial intima-media thickness in Behcet's disease patients without vascular complaints. Vascular. 2018 Aug;26(4):356–61.
- 260. Sereflican B, Kizildag B, Halicioglu S, Goksugur N, Tuman B, Dagistan E. Extramedial thickness of carotid artery in patients with Behçet's disease: evaluation of athe-

rosclerotic vessel wall changes with a novel carotid artery ultrasound index. Int J Dermatol. 2016 Oct;55(10):1124–30.

- 261. Ozturk C, Balta S, Balta I, Demirkol S, Celik T, Turker T, et al. Neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio and carotid-intima media thickness in patients with Behçet disease without cardiovascular involvement. Angiology. 2015 Mar;66(3):291–6.
- 262. Alis D, Durmaz ESM, Civcik C, Tutuncu M, Saip S, Kocer N, et al. Assessment of the common carotid artery wall stiffness by Shear Wave Elastography in Behcet's disease. Med Ultrason. 2018 Dec 8;20(4):446–52.
- 263. Merashli M, Ster IC, Ames PRJ. Subclinical atherosclerosis in Behcet's disease: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Semin Arthritis Rheum. 2016 Feb;45(4):502–10.
- 264. Yuksel M, Yildiz A, Oylumlu M, Turkcu FM, Bilik MZ, Ekinci A, et al. Novel markers of endothelial dysfunction and inflammation in Behçet's disease patients with ocular involvement: epicardial fat thickness, carotid intima media thickness, serum ADMA level, and neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio. Clin Rheumatol. 2016 Mar;35(3):701–8.
- 265. Igata S, Tahara N, Tahara A, Honda A, Nitta Y, Kusaba K, et al. Demonstration of the disease activity by serial carotid artery ultrasonography, magnetic resonance imaging and 18-fluoro-deoxyglucose positron emission tomography in a Behçet's disease patient with carotid artery stenosis. Eur Heart J. 2015 Jul 1;36(25):1629.
- 266. Ozuguz P, Karabulut AA, Tulmac M, Kisa U, Kocak M, Gunduz O. Markers of endothelial dysfunction and evaluation of vascular reactivity tests in Behçet disease. Angiology. 2014 Nov;65(10):937–43.
- 267. Yurdakul S, Erdemir VA, Tayyareci Y, Yildirimturk O, Salih Gurel M, Aytekin S. Subclinical left and right ventricular systolic dysfunction in Behcet's disease: a combined tissue doppler and velocity vector imaging study. J Clin Ultrasound. 2013 Aug;41(6):347–53.
- 268. Taşolar H, Taşolar S, Kurtuluş D, Altun B, Bayramoğlu A, Otlu YÖ, et al. Increased epicardial adipose tissue thickness on transthoracic echocardiography in patients with Behçet disease. J Ultrasound Med. 2014 Aug;33(8):1393–400.
- 269. Farouk H. Behçet's disease, echocardiographers, and cardiac surgeons: together is better. Echocardiography. 2014 Jul;31(6):783–7.
- 270. Farouk H, Chilali KE, Said K, Sakr B, Salah H, Mahmoud G, et al. Value of certain echocardiographic findings in the initial suspicion of Behçet's disease. Echocardiography. 2014 Sep;31(8):924–30.
- 271. Pu L, Li R, Xie J, Yang Y, Liu G, Wang Y, et al. Characteristic Echocardiographic Manifestations of Behçet's Disease. Ultrasound Med Biol. 2018 Apr;44(4):825–30.
- 272. Li R, Pu L, Sun Z, Wang Y, Liu G, Xie J, et al. Echocardiographic findings of cardiovascular involvement in Behçet's disease and post-operative complications after cardiac surgery. Clin Exp Rheumatol. 2018 Dec;36(6 Suppl 115):103–9.

- 273. Choi H-M, Kim H-K, Park S-J, Lee H-J, Yoon YE, Park J-B, et al. Predictors of paravalvular aortic regurgitation after surgery for Behcet's disease-related severe aortic regurgitation. Orphanet J Rare Dis. 2019 Jun 10;14(1):132.
- 274. Song J-K, Kim M-J, Kim D-H, Song J-M, Kang D-H, Lee I, et al. Factors determining outcomes of aortic valve surgery in patients with aortic regurgitation due to Behçet's disease: impact of preoperative echocardiographic features. J Am Soc Echocardiogr. 2011 Sep;24(9):995–1003.
- 275. Zhao H, He B, Shen X, Qiao Z, Xu T, Lian F, et al. Aortic root dissection with left valsalva sinus perforation detected by transesophageal 3D echocardiography in a patient with Behçet's disease. J Clin Ultrasound. 2014 Jan;42(1):59–62.
- 276. Koo HJ, Yang DH, Kang J-W, Han K, Chung CH, Song J-K, et al. Demonstration of prosthetic aortic valve dehiscence in a patient with noninfectious aortitis by multimodality imaging: findings of echocardiography and computed tomography. Circulation. 2013 Aug 13;128(7):759–61.
- 277. Farouk H, Zayed HS, El-Chilali K. Cardiac findings in patients with Behçet's disease: Facts and controversies. Anatol J Cardiol. 2016 Jul;16(7):529–33.
- 278. Choi JH, Seo HS. Huge coronary artery aneurysm causing myocardial infarction in Behcet disease. Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging. 2019 Sep 1;20(9):1071.
- 279. Yildiz A, Arslan C, Erol C. Cardiac tamponade due to rupture of a right coronary artery aneurysm in a patient with Behçet's disease. J Cardiovasc Med (Hagerstown). 2012 May;13(5):343–5.
- 280. Naser W, Lishner M. Behçet Disease Presenting as Acute Myocardial Infarction. Isr Med Assoc J. 2020 Jul;22(7):458–60.
- 281. Pu L, Li R, Xie J, Liu G, Yang Y. A giant pseudoaneurysm of coronary artery in a young patient with Behçet's disease. Echocardiography. 2017 Nov;34(11):1736–7.
- 282. Cook AL, Rouster-Stevens K, Williams DA, Hines MH. Giant aneurysm of the left anterior descending coronary artery in a pediatric patient with Behcet's disease. Pediatr Cardiol. 2010 Jul;31(5):700–2.
- 283. Greenhouse DG, Hackett K, Kahn P, Balsam LB, Galloway AC. Giant coronary artery aneurysm in a patient with Behçet's disease. J Card Surg. 2011 May;26(3):268–70.
- 284. Rekik S, Bernasconi F, Eker A, Appaix AB. Impressive progression of coronary artery disease assessed by serial multimodality imaging in a 40 year-old patient with Behçet's disease. Int J Cardiol. 2015;187:252–5.
- 285. Wu X, Li G, Huang X, Wang L, Liu W, Zhao Y, et al. Behçet's disease complicated with thrombosis: a report of 93 Chinese cases. Medicine (Baltimore). 2014 Dec;93(28):e263.

- 286. Wang H, Guo X, Tian Z, Liu Y, Wang Q, Li M, et al. Intracardiac thrombus in patients with Behcet's disease: clinical correlates, imaging features, and outcome: a retrospective, single-center experience. Clin Rheumatol. 2016 Oct;35(10):2501–7.
- 287. Lisitsyna T, Alekberova Z, Ovcharov P, Volkov A, Korsakova J, Nasonov E. Left ventricular intracardiac thrombus in a patient with Behçet disease successfully treated with immunosuppressive agents without anticoagulation: a case report and review of the literature. Rheumatol Int. 2015 Nov;35(11):1931–5.
- 288. Black IW. Spontaneous echo contrast: where there's smoke there's fire. Echocardiography. 2000 May;17(4):373–82.
- Abidov A, Alpert JS. Importance of echocardiographic findings in the acute presentation of Behçet's disease--diagnostic and prognostic considerations. Echocardiography. 2014 Sep;31(8):913–5.
- 290. Yagmur J, Sener S, Acikgoz N, Cansel M, Ermis N, Karincaoglu Y, et al. Subclinical left ventricular dysfunction in Behcet's disease assessed by two-dimensional speckle tracking echocardiography. Eur J Echocardiogr. 2011 Jul;12(7):536–41.
- 291. Demirelli S, Degirmenci H, Bilen H, Ermis E, Duman H, Arisoy A, et al. Left ventricular mechanics in Behcet's disease: a speckle tracking echocardiographic study. Bosn J Basic Med Sci. 2014 Aug 15;14(3):160–4.
- 292. Sun BJ, Park J-H, Yoo S-J, Park Y, Kim YJ, Lee IS, et al. Intrinsic changes of left ventricular function in patients with Behçet disease and comparison according to systemic disease activity. Echocardiography. 2018 Jun;35(6):809–16.
- 293. Çalık AN, Özcan KS, Mesci B, Çınar T, Çanga Y, Güngör B, et al. The association of inflammatory markers and echocardiographic parameters in Behçet's disease. Acta Cardiol. 2020 Apr;75(2):130–7.
- 294. Heper G, Polat M, Yetkin E, Senen K. Cardiac findings in Behçet's patients. Int J Dermatol. 2010 May;49(5):574–8.
- 295. Koc F, Koc S, Yuksek J, Vatankulu MA, Ozbek K, Gul EE, et al. Is diastolic dysfunction associated with atrial electrocardiographic parameters in Behçet's disease? Acta Cardiol. 2011 Oct;66(5):607–12.
- Aktürk E, Yağmur J, Kurtoğlu E, Ermis N, Acikgoz N, Sener S, et al. Left atrial volume and function in patients with Behcet's disease assessed by real-time three-dimensional echocardiography. Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging. 2012 Aug;13(8):650–5.
- 297. Karabag T, Aydin M, Dogan SM, Koca R, Buyukuysal C, Sayin MR, et al. Investigation of the atrial electromechanical delay duration in Behcet patients by tissue Doppler echocardiography. Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging. 2012 Mar;13(3):251–6.
- 298. Hidayet Ş, Yağmur J, Bayramoğlu A, Cansel M, Ermiş N, Taşolar H, et al. Fragmented QRS complexes are associated with subclinical left ventricular dysfunction in patients

with Behcet's disease: Four-dimensional speckle tracking echocardiography. J Clin Ul-trasound. 2021 Mar;49(3):227–33.

- 299. Cansel M, Yagmur J, Taşolar H, Karincaoglu Y, Ermis N, Acikgoz N, et al. Assessment of atrial conduction time in patients with Behçet's disease. Acta Reumatol Port. 2014 Mar;39(1):29–36.
- 300. Akçar N, Göktekin F, Ozer A, Korkmaz C. Doppler sonography of ocular and carotid arteries in Behçet patients. J Clin Ultrasound. 2010 Dec;38(9):486–92.
- 301. Mohammed RHA, Nasef A, Kewan HH, Al Shaar M. Vascular neurobehcet disease: correlation with current disease activity forum and systemic vascular involvement. Clin Rheumatol. 2012 Jul;31(7):1033–40.
- 302. Taşolar S, Doğan M, Taşolar H, Kahraman A, Kamışlı S, Doğan A, et al. Evaluation of vertebral artery involvement by Doppler sonography in patients with Behçet disease. J Ultrasound Med. 2014 May;33(5):811–6.
- 303. Gok M, Erdem H, Gogus F, Yilmaz S, Karadag O, Simsek I, et al. Relationship of ultrasonographic findings with synovial angiogenesis modulators in different forms of knee arthritides. Rheumatol Int. 2013 Apr;33(4):879–85.
- 304. Ozkan F, Cetin GY, Bakan B, Kalender AM, Yuksel M, Ekerbicer HC, et al. Sonographic evaluation of subclinical entheseal involvement in patients with Behçet disease. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2012 Dec;199(6):W723-729.
- 305. Mülkoğlu C, Ayhan FF. A case with Behçet's disease involving erosive Metacarpophalangeal joint arthritis: the value of ultrasonography in the diagnosis of an Erosion. BMC Med Imaging. 2020 Jun 3;20(1):60.
- 306. Cil AP, Karabulut AA, Koçak M. Assessment of ovarian stromal artery Doppler characteristics and serum hormone levels in patients with Behçet disease. Diagn Interv Radiol. 2010 Dec;16(4):288–92.
- 307. Goliasch G, Hoke M. Large vessel vasculitis in Behçet's disease. Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging. 2017 Jun 1;18(6):724.
- 308. Kim SH, Kim JY, Kim GB, Yu JJ, Choi J-W. Diagnosis of Coronary Artery Abnormalities in Patients with Kawasaki Disease According to Established Guidelines and Z Score Formulas. J Am Soc Echocardiogr. 2021 Jun;34(6):662-672.e3.
- 309. Jeong J, Kim HJ, Kim SM, Huh J, Yang J-H, Choe YH. Diagnosis of Right Ventricular Vegetation on Late Gadolinium-Enhanced MR Imaging in a Pediatric Patient after Repair of a Ventricular Septal Defect. Investigative Magnetic Resonance Imaging. 2016;20(2):114–9.
- 310. Tutar B, Kantarci F, Cakmak OS, Yazici H, Seyahi E. Assessment of deep venous thrombosis in the lower extremity in Behçet's syndrome: MR venography versus Doppler ultrasonography. Intern Emerg Med. 2019 Aug;14(5):705–11.

- 311. Beltagy A, Eshak N, Abdelnabi MH, Almaghraby A, Magdy S, Shehata H. Aortic valve perforation in the setting of Cogan's syndrome. Echocardiography. 2019 Aug;36(8):1590–3.
- 312. Gasparovic H, Djuric Z, Bosnic D, Petricevic M, Brida M, Dotlic S, et al. Aortic root vasculitis associated with Cogan's syndrome. Ann Thorac Surg. 2011 Jul;92(1):340–1.
- 313. Gonçalves RM, Curi ALL, Campos WR, Oréfice F, Machado DO. Posterior scleritis in Cogan's syndrome. Ocul Immunol Inflamm. 2004 Jun;12(2):149–52.